
 
 

The Corporation of the Township of Billings 
Council Meeting Agenda 

July 2, 2024 7:00 p.m. 
Kagawong Park Centre 

 
Council 
Bryan Barker, Mayor 
David Hillyard, Deputy Mayor 
Vince Grogan, Councillor 
Ian Anderson, Councillor 
Michael Hunt, Councillor  
 
Staff  
Veronique Dion, CAO/Clerk 
Harmony Hancock, Director of Finance/Treasurer 
Todd Gordon, Deputy CAO/Municipal Project Manager  
Tiana Mills, Deputy Clerk 
 
1. Call to Order 

Mayor Barker to call the meeting to order at 7:00pm. 
2. Approval of Agenda 

2.1. Confirm approval of the agenda. 
3. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest 
4. Adoption of Minutes 

Motion to adopt the minutes of the following meetings of Council: 
4.1. Regular Council Meeting – June 18, 2024 

5. Delegation  
6. Committee Reports 

6.1. Members of Council are provided with an opportunity to report on Committee and 
Board meetings.  

7. Staff Reports  
7.1. EM-2024-07-02 Quarterly Emergency Management Report 2 
7.2. TR-2024-07-12 Quarterly Financial Update 
7.3. CLK-2024-07-10 Circular Materials Depot Operations Agreement 

8. Correspondence Requiring Direction 
9. Information 
10. Accounts For Payment 

10.1. Accounts for Payment – June 14, 2024 



 
 

11. By-Laws and Agreements  
11.1. 2024-41 The Ontario Municipal Records Management System (TOMRMS) 

Compliance Services Agreement 
11.2. 2024-42 Ontario Infrastructure and Lands Corporation Loan Application – Old 

Mill Bridge (direction from April 16, 2024 TR-2024-04-08) 
12. Notice of Motion 

12.1. Notice of Motion by Deputy Mayor Hillyard  
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby direct staff to draft a By-Law for the speed 
reduction on the following roads Pleasant Valley Road, 8th Concession, 10th Concession, 
Fraser Road and Newburn Road from the unposted speed limit of 80 km per hour to a 
posted speed reduction of 50 km per hour and secondly that the Roads department 
supervisor be directed to have staff install new posted speed signs of 50/km an hour as 
soon as possible. And that the new speed reduction on agriculture roads be advertised 
in the local news paper and on all social media platforms to show our support of our 
agriculture community in support of safer roads as identified last July 2023 by the 
Ontario Federation of Agriculture slow moving vehicle campaign. 

12.2. Notice of Motion by Mayor Bryan Barker 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby directs staff to review options for Mud 
Creek Road access. 

12.3. Notice of motion by Mayor Bryan Barker 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby directs staff to initiate a structural review 
of Lakeshore Road. 

13. Closed Session 
13.1. THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby moves into Closed Session 

pursuant to [s. 239(3.1)] Educating or training members of the council, local board or 
committee – Procedural By-Law AND [s. 239(2)(d)] Labour relations or employee 
negotiations, Personnel matter, AND FURTHER returns to open session upon 
completion. 

14. Confirmatory By-Law 
14.1. By-Law No. 2024-43 Being the July 2nd, 2024 Confirmatory By-Law  

15. Adjournment 
15.1. Motion to Adjourn 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
Document Accessibility 
The Township of Billings is committed to providing information in the format that meets your needs. We 
have made every attempt to make documents for this meeting accessible but there may still be difficulty 
in recognizing all the information. Please contact us if you require assistance and we will make every 
attempt to provide this information in an alternative format. 
Please note that third party documents received and found within this document will not be converted 
to an accessible format by the Township of Billings. However, upon request, we will attempt to obtain 
these documents in an appropriate accessible format from the third party. 
For assistance or to make a request please call (705) 282-2611 or email tmills@billingstwp.ca  



 
 

The Corporation of the Township of Billings 
Council Meeting Minutes 
June 18, 2024 7:00 p.m. 
Kagawong Park Centre 

 
Council 
Bryan Barker, Mayor 
David Hillyard, Deputy Mayor 
Vince Grogan, Councillor 
Ian Anderson, Councillor 
Michael Hunt, Councillor  
 
Staff  
Veronique Dion, CAO/Clerk 
Todd Gordon, Deputy CAO/Municipal Project Manager  
Tiana Mills, Deputy Clerk 
 
1. Call to Order 

Mayor Barker called the meeting to order at 7:00p.m.  
 

2. Approval of Agenda 
2.1. Confirm approval of the agenda. 

2024-251 
Moved by Hunt Seconded by Anderson 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby approves the agenda as presented. 

       Carried. 
 

3. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest 
None. 
 

4. Adoption of Minutes 
Motion to adopt the minutes of the following meetings of Council: 
4.1. Regular Council Meeting – June 4, 2024 

2024-252 
Moved by Anderson Seconded by Hillyard 
THAT the June 4th, 2024 Regular Council Meeting minutes be adopted as presented. 

Carried. 
 



 
 

5. Delegation  
None. 
 

6. Committee Reports 
6.1. Members of Council are provided with an opportunity to report on Committee and 

Board meetings.  

No reports were provided. 
 

7. Staff Reports  
7.1. MPM-2024-06-07 Seasonal Preparations 

2024-253 
Moved by Hunt Seconded by Grogan 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby receives for information Report MPM-
2024-06-07. 
      Carried. 
 

7.2. MPM-2024-06-08 Asset Management -PSD Citywide Inc. Proposal, 2025 Regulatory 
Compliance 
2024-254 
Moved by Anderson Seconded by Hillyard 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby approves Report MPM-2024-06-08; AND 
authorizes an exemption to the procurement policy in seeking consulting services to 
assist in completing the legislated requirements AND FURTHER THAT staff brings back 
an agreement for Council approval at an upcoming meeting. 
      Carried. 
 

7.3. MPM-2024-06-09 Old Mill Road Bridge Project 
2024-255  
Moved by Hunt Seconded by Anderson 
THAT the Township of Billings Council receives for information Report MPM-2024-06-
09. 
      Carried. 
 

7.4. CAO-2024-06-07 The Ontario Municipal Records Management System (TOMRMS) 
2024-256  
Moved by Hunt Seconded by Anderson 



 
 

THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby receives for information Report CAO-
2024-06-07 AND FURTHER THAT a new Records Retention By-Law, its schedules and 
policies be brought to the next Council meeting for adoption. 
      Carried. 
 

7.5. CAO-2024-06-08 Vacant Municipal Lands 
2024-257 
Moved by Grogan Seconded by Hillyard 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby receives Report CAO-2024-06-08 AND 
FURTHER THAT a public consultation be held in mid-summer to gain the public’s view 
on potential developments. 
      Carried. 
 

7.6. CAO-2024-06-09 - Housing Options Study 
2024-258 
Moved by Grogan Seconded by Hillyard 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby receives Report CAO-2024-06-09 for 
information purposes. 
      Carried. 
 

7.7. CLK-2024-06-07 Outdoor Rink Naming Contest 
2024-259  
Moved by Anderson Seconded by Hillyard 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby approves report CLK-2024-06-07 AND 
approves the Parks, Recreation and Wellness Committee to engage the public with a 
naming contest of the Kagawong Outdoor Rink Facility. 
      Carried. 
 

7.8. CLK-2024-06-08 2024 AMO Conference 
2024-260 
Moved by Grogan Seconded by Anderson 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby approves report CLK-2024-06-08 AND 
directs staff to register Councillor Grogan and the CAO/Clerk for the 2024 AMO 
Conference. 
      Carried. 
 

7.9. CLK-2024-06-09 Outdoor Rink Facility Recommendations  
2024-261 



 
 

Moved by Hunt Seconded by Hillyard 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby approves report CLK-2024-06-09 AND 
directs staff to obtain additional pricing on an upgraded electrical service at the 
Outdoor Rink Facility. 
      Carried. 
 

8. Correspondence Requiring Direction 
None. 
 

9. Information 
9.1. Manitoulin Centennial Manor Board Package and Financial Statements 
9.2. 2024 Household Hazardous Waste Day Flyer  

2024-262 
Moved by Hunt Seconded by Anderson 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby receives for information all items listed in 
Section 9. 

Carried. 
 

10. Accounts For Payment 
10.1. Accounts for Payment – May 28, 2024 

2024-263 
Moved by Hunt Seconded by Anderson 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby ratifies and confirms the accounts for 
payment dated May 28th, 2024. 

Carried. 
 

11. By-Laws and Agreements  
None. 
 

12. Notice of Motions 
None. 

 
13. Closed Session 

2024-264 
Moved by Grogan Seconded by Anderson 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby moves into Closed Session pursuant to [s. 
239(3.1)] Educating or training members of the council, local board or committee – 
Procedural By-Law AND FURTHER returns to open session upon completion. 



 
 

      Carried. 
 

14. Report out of Closed 
2024- 269 
Moved by Grogan Seconded by Hunt 
THAT Mayor Barker reported a closed meeting was held for educating or training 
members of Council – Procedural By-Law review. 
      Carried. 
 

15. Confirmatory By-Law 
15.1. By-Law No. 2024-40 Being the June 18, 2024 Confirmatory By-Law  

2024-270 
Moved by Grogan Seconded by Anderson 
THAT By-Law No. 2024-40 Being the June 18th, 2024 Confirmatory By-Law be read a 
first, second, third time and finally passed this 18th day of June, 2024. 
      Carried. 
 

16. Adjournment 
16.1. Motion to Adjourn 

2024-271 
Moved by Hunt Seconded by Anderson 
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby adjourn at 9:07 p.m.  
      Carried. 

  
 
 
______________________________    ______________________________ 
Mayor Bryan Barker      CAO/Clerk Veronique Dion 

 



 
 

COUNCIL REPORT 
Department: Emergency Management 
Date: July 2, 2024 
Report Number: EM-2024-07-02 
File: Quarterly Emergency Management Report (2) 
Attachment: MECG/EMPC Meeting Minutes: March 26, 2024, MECG/EMPC 
Meeting Minutes: June 18, 2024 
 
Recommendation:  
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby receives for information, Report Number 
EM2024-07-02. 
Background:  
To update Council on Emergency Management activities for the period of January thru March 
2024. 
Discussion:  
Emergency Management activities to date have included  

a) MECG/EMPC Quarterly Meeting March 26,2024. (Minutes attached) 
b) April 9, 2024 Completion and distribution of the “Draft” Township Emergency 

Evacuation Plan. 
c) MECG/EMPC Quarterly Meeting June 18, 2024. (Minutes Attached)  

Financial Impacts 
There are no financial impacts or budget implications associated with this report. 
Alignment to Strategic Plan: 
Community Wellbeing: Ensure safety and security. 
Alignment to the CEEP: 
No direct alignment. 
Respectfully Submitted By: 
Arthur Moran 
Community Emergency Management Coordinator (CEMC) 
Reviewed By: 
Veronique Dion, CAO/Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 

MECG/EMPC Meeting Minutes 
March 26, 2024 

 
Members Present: Emily Dance, Bryan Barker, Tiana Mills, David Hillyard, Arthur Moran, Tina 
Beckerton, Chris Cyr, Martin Connell, Jim Chambers. 
 
1)Call to Order: 10:01 
 
2) A motion was put forward to accept the meeting agenda as presented. 
Moved: Bryan Barker, second: Chris Cyr, Carried. 
 
3)A motion was put forward to accept the MECG/EMPC meeting minutes of October 23, 2023. 
Moved: David Hillyard, second: Martin Conne, Carried. 
 
4) Old Business 
a) The group discussed the inclusion of specific training requirements for MECG/EMPC 
members as part of the Emergency Response Plan (ERP). The group agreed to submit a 
recommendation to Council to consider a motion to include the following amendments to the 
ERP. 
Training 
1)It is an important requirement to have the members of the MECG trained to a level where 
each of the group members understands the role of their group position as well as the 
execution of the duties associated with those roles. 
To meet this requirement the following group members shall take the following Emergency 
Management Ontario training courses: 
CEMC/Alternate CEMC 

- Basic Emergency Management  
- Incident Management Systems (IMS) levels 100 and 200 (IMS 300 optional) 
- Community Emergency Management Coordinator 

Note: These courses are mandatory for the CEMC but highly recommended for the Alternate 
CEMC. 
All other CECG/EMPC members 

- Basic Emergency Management. 
- Introduction to Incident Management Systems (self study) 

Note: These courses shall be taken within the first calendar year from the appointment to the 
position. 
2)  Another MECG training requirement is an annual review of the following topics: 



 
 

• Knowledge of all of the components of the Municipal Emergency Management 
Program, including, but not limited to the municipal HIRA and Critical Infrastructure 
list; 

• Knowledge of their municipality’s Municipal Emergency Plan, including the roles and 
responsibilities, and those of  

• organizations which may have a role in response; 
• Knowledge of the procedures used to activate and operate under the Municipal 

Emergency Plan; 
• Knowledge of the notification procedures used to notify members of the MECG 

when the Municipal Emergency Plan is activated; and 
• Knowledge of the location, communications infrastructure and technology in their 

municipal Emergency Operations Centre. 
• Basic Knowledge of IMS operations 

This training will be held in a review session prior to the annual training and table top exercise 
and all members will sign the understanding of training compliance document. 
b) The group discussed the development of an emergency evacuation plan for Billings 
Township. It was agreed that the CEMC will prepare a draft evacuation plan that will be 
presented for review at the June 20, 2023 MECG/EMPC meeting. 
5) New Business 
a) The CEMC reported that EMO will be sending out letters in mid April to verify the status of 
the annual emergency management compliance submissions. 
b) The CEMC reported that as part of the raising of public awareness of the Township 
Emergency Management Program, trifold flyers that provided brief information regarding 
emergency management were distributed at the Township Family Day event. It was reported 
that the flyers were well received. 
c) The CEMC reported that he successfully completed the IMS 300 training course that was held 
during the last week of February. It was reported that the course was very helpful in providing 
in providing training materials that will be utilized during the annual table top training exercise. 
d) The group discussed possible emergency topics that could used in the table top exercise and 
it was agreed that the group will use a tornado touchdown scenario. The topic of a prolonged 
heat event was discussed, and it was agreed that the heat event should be considered as a 
potential hazard when the HIRA is reviewed. 
-The group also discussed the inclusion of role designations to the identified positions for the 
MECG members.  The group agreed to submit a recommendation to Council to consider a 
motion to include the following amendments to the ERP. 
Note: The MECG is NOT responsible for directing the actions of emergency responders on-
scene, the Incident Commander in charge of the scene holds that responsibility.  
The MECG provides logistical support and coordination of resources for the Incident 
Commander.  
The MECG members shall be appointed by Council through by-law and shall be municipal 
officials or employees.  



 
 

The MECG may function with only a limited number of persons depending on the emergency, 
however, all members must be kept notified pursuant to the procedures outlined in section 5. 
Individual MECG Operational Roles 
The Township of Billings Municipal Emergency Control Group consists of:  

• CAO/Clerk (EOC Commander) 
• Deputy Clerk (EIO/Communications) 
• Mayor (Advisor) 
• Deputy Mayor (Floater) 
• CEMC (Safety Officer) 
• Emergency Information Officer (Floater) 
• Treasurer (Finance and Administration) 
• Fire Chief (Incident Commander, On-Site Field Operations) 
• Public Works Superintendent (Logistics, On-Site Field Operations) 
• Deputy Fire Chief (On-Site Field Operations) 
• Alternate CEMC (Liasson Officer) 

Moved: Emily Dance, second: Martin Connell, Carried. 
e) The group discussed the location of the Township’s Emergency Operations Centre (EOC) and 
agreed that the Township offices at Old Mill Road will be used as the Primary EOC and that the 
lower section of the Park Centre building on Henry Dive will be used as a the secondary EOC. 
-It was also discussed that the Park Centre will be used a communications/Information 
distribution point. 
f) In open discussion, the following items were discussed: 
- the Revised Open-air Burning Bylaw has been completed and forwarded to Council for 
approval. 
- the Province of Ontario has announced incentives for the recruitment of wildland firefighters. 
- radio communication equipment needs to inventoried and programed. 
- follow-up on wait times for 911 emergency calls. 
6) Next Meeting June 20, 2024 
 
7) Meeting adjourned at 11:32 AM. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 
 

 
MECG/EMPC Meeting Minutes 

June 18, 2024 
 
Members Present: Veronique Dion, Bryan Barker, Tiana Mills, Chris Cyr, Arthur Moran, Martin 
Connell, Jim Chambers. 
 
1)Call to Order: 11:00AM 
 
2) A motion was put forward to accept the meeting agenda as presented. 
Moved: Chris Cyr, second: Veronique Dion, Carried. 
 
3)A motion was put forward to accept the MECG/EMPC meeting minutes of March 26, 2024. 
Moved: Bryan Barker, second: Tiana Mills, Carried. 
 
4) Old Business 
a) The CEMC recapped the amendments that were made to the ERP regarding training 
requirements for group members and role responsibilities for MECG members. 
 
5) New Business 
a) Members of the group performed a detailed review of the “Draft” Emergency Evacuation 
Plan for the Township. Items requiring follow-up included the following; 
i)Follow-up with local church groups regarding Vulnerable Persons Registry. Possible door 
stickers for vulnerable persons? 
ii) Source for more legislative references regarding enforcement of evacuation orders. 
iii) Sourcing other possible locations for evacuation registration. 
iv) identifying specific groups who be assisting in expediting an evacuation order. 
v) The review was closed with the CEMC requesting the Group members perform a personal 
review of the Evacuation Plan and send in any suggested amendments prior to the Plan being 
forwarded to council for adoption. 
b) The CEMC provided an update regarding the upcoming Emergency Management training 
course that will be held in Mindemoya on June 15, 2024. 
c) The CEMC reported that the annual fall training/table top session will include: 
i) Training 
- IMS Documents 
- Incident planning cycle 
- Operational responsibilities 
Exercise 



 
 

-Operation Gone Sailing 
d) The Group discussed an EMO suggestion that the Township and the Municipality of Central 
Manitoulin collaborate and have their training/tabletop exercise together. The group decided 
that it would prefer to perform the training/tabletop exercise on its own until the group 
becomes proficient in performing complete operational cycles. 
e) The CEMC reported that Veronique Dion will replace Tina Beckerton as the Alternate CEMC 
and that the appropriate documents have been filed with EMO. 
f) In an open discussion, the topic of emergency communications was brought forward. It was 
agreed that the CEMC will follow-up on the following items: 
i) Review communications equipment inventory in the Supplemental ERP. 
ii) Review radio frequencies. 
iii) Set up short wave radio at the municipal office. 
g) The CEMC reviewed the EMO 1st ever annual report with the Group. 
 
6) Next Meeting: TBA 
 
7) Meeting adjourned at 12:20 PM. 
 
 
 
-  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

COUNCIL REPORT 
Department:  Treasury 
Date: Jul 2, 2024 
Report Number: TR-2024-07-12 Q1 Financial Report Appendix  
File: Jan. 1-Mar. 31, 2024 Financial Report 
 
Recommendation:  
THAT the Township of Billings Council hereby receives for information Report Number TR-2024-07-12. 
Discussion:  

Township of Billings All Departments Report Budget vs Actual 
     

From: January 1, 2024 Budget 2024 All Depts Budget Under 
(Over) To: March 31, 2024 

Tax Revenue             2,179,843          1,203,887             975,956  
English Public Revenue                320,987                      -               320,987  
French Public Revenue                    2,690                      -                   2,690  

Payments in LIEU                    5,994                      -                   5,994  
Federal Funding                  58,249                      -                 58,249  
Provincial Funding                588,904             900,574   (311,670)  
Water Usage Revenue                312,783               63,294             249,489  
Fees, Charges & Donation 
Revenue                227,450                 9,087             218,363  
License & Permit Revenue                  45,329                 4,062               41,266  
Investment Income                198,200               45,405             152,795  
Penalties & Interest Revenue                  48,200                 4,793               43,407  
Other Revenue                  68,000               17,773               50,227  

Total Revenue                  4,056,629          2,248,875          1,807,754  
    

Wages & Benefits 987,710 239,649  748,061  
Admin Expense 830,672  163,401  667,271  
Total Building & Equipment 203,550  35,832  167,718  

Total Other Services 442,722  176,763  265,959  
Total Public Services 1,016,890  250,223  766,667  
Total Roads 329,000  330  328,670  
Total Supplies & Equipment 160,000  12,625  147,375  
Total Utilities 86,085  26,016  60,069  

Total Expense 4,056,629  904,838  3,151,790  
         

Net Income                          0              1,344,037            (1,344,037)  

The Township of Billings Quarter 1 Financial Report displays Revenue of $2,248,875.00 less expenses of 
$904,838 for a Net Income of $1,344,037.00. 
 



 
 

Please see brief descriptions of revenues received below: 
 
Tax Revenue - interim tax levy (based on the 2023 final) which covers Jan. 1-Jun. 30, 2024. 
 
Provincial Funding received includes the first quarter OMPF (Ontario Municipal Partnership Funding) of 
$136,700.00 that was received in February. This funding is to support areas with limited property assessment 
& assist municipalities that are adjusting to year over year funding challenges. 
 
Capital Asset Funding of 183,842 was received this quarter and consists of 55,738 from the Minister of 
Infrastructure for the Old Mill Road Water Line project and 128,104 for the Old Mill Road Bridge project. 
We returned 115,800 to OTF for the Pedestrian Bridge project from 2023. 
Funding from NOHFC 695,832 was received for the Firehall project from 2023. 
 
Water Usage Revenue includes the first quarter’s water invoices that were billed Jan 15, 2024. 
 
Fees, Services, Charges & Donations includes tax certificates, donations for the library & museum, other 
revenue being rink ads, landfill and misc. revenue., cemetery plot markers and internments. 
 
Licences & Permits includes building permits, rental revenue (park centre) and rent leases. 
 
Investment Income is interest revenue earned on bank balances. 
 
Penalties & Interest Revenue includes interest accrued on taxes and water arrears. 
 
Other Revenue is the Power Generating Station. 
 
Please see brief descriptions of expenses incurred below: 
 
Wages & Benefits includes mandatory payroll related costs (CPP, EI, OMERS, Group RRSPs, Benefits and 
WSIB). 
 
Admin Expenses includes Advertising, Accounting, Bank Charges, Communication fees (Fire), Health & Safety, 
Insurance, Legal, Postage, Professional Development, MPAC fees for property assessment, subscriptions & 
membership fees, Tax Registration fees which are billed back to the property owner, and travel. 
 
Building & Equipment includes maintenance on buildings and generators. Fuel for vehicles as well as OCWA 
facilities and building cleaning contracts are included in this category. 
 
Other Services includes Contract expenses for Asset Management software, Strategic Plan consulting, landfill 
recycling services, IT support, OCWA. Project expenses related to the Firehall, engineering services for the Old 
Mill Bridge Replacement are also captured.  
 
Public Services are fixed amounts pertaining to Ambulance, Policing, Health Unit, DSSAB, School Board Levies. 
 



 
 

Roads includes a small expense for streetlights. The winter was mild and public works did not require 
additional winter maintenance purchases. 
 
Supplies & Equipment includes library book purchases, office supplies, a net for the ODR, purchases for events 
such as Family Day and Easter, and cleaning supplies. 
 
Utilities are Hydro, Propane and Telephone & Internet. 
 
Financial Impacts: 
None. 
Alignment to the Strategic Plan: 
No direct alignment. 
Alignment to the Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 
No direct alignment. 
Respectfully Submitted By: 
Harmony Hancock, Treasurer 
Approved By: 
Veronique Dion, CAO/Clerk 
 



 
 

COUNCIL REPORT 
Title: Depot Operations Agreement for Blue Box Services 
Department: Clerk 
Date: July 2, 2024 
Report Number: CLK 2024-07-10 
Attachment: Circular Materials Depot Operations Agreement 
 
Recommendation:   
THAT the Township of Billings Council receives report CLK-2024-07-10; AND enters into a Depot 
Operations Agreement with Circular Materials for the Township of Billings to provide blue box 
services at our depots, including promotion and education and service to non-eligible sources, 
for the period of January 1, 2025 to December 31st, 2025 based on the terms described in this 
report; ANDFURTHER THAT the CAO be authorized to execute the Depot Operations Agreement 
with Circular Materials.  
 
Background:  
The purpose of this report is to provide a brief background on the transition of the Blue Box 
Program to full producer responsibility and to seek Council approval for staff to enter into a 
Depot Operations Agreement with Circular Materials (CM) for the management of blue box 
materials at the community’s waste management depot(s).   
 
Discussion:  
Analysis of the Blue Box Service Options 
Since the Township of Billings offers depot-only blue box services, CM has provided an 
opportunity to decide whether to 1) opt-in and operate the depot site as part of the blue box 
program as a contractor to CM or 2) opt-out and hand-over full operational and financial 
responsibility for the blue box program to CM. Staff held discussions with CM to determine 
whether it is in Billings’ best interest to pursue an agreement under option 1 or hand over the 
program under option 2.  
 
After analyzing the two options staff are recommending executing an agreement with CM to 
provide Depot Operations Agreement blue box services until December 31, 2025, under option 
1. The recommendation is based on the following discussion and analysis: 
 
Eligible Community Depot Operations Agreement 
CM has developed the "Eligible Community Depot Operations Agreement” (Agreement) which 
combines the Master Services Agreement and Promotion and Education Statement of Work 
into one document. The Agreement outlines the obligations and terms that the community 



 
 

must meet as a contractor for CM. This Agreement covers the date of transition to December 
31, 2025, with potential extensions. 
The CM Eligible Community Depot Operations Agreement means that the Township of Billings 
will: 

• receive payment from CM to continue operating the depot(s) and providing blue box 
drop-off services to residents (see discussion below on financial compensation) 

• continue to allow residents to drop-off acceptable blue box materials at the existing 
blue box depot site(s)  

• allow commercial and institutional establishments (non-eligible sources) to drop-off 
recyclables at the existing blue box depot site(s) until December 31, 2025, and pay a 
management fee for blue box materials from non-eligible sources (see discussion below 
on non-eligible sources) 

• no longer responsible for the hauling of blue box materials from the depot(s) to an 
allocated facility, called a Receiving Facility. This activity will become the responsibility 
of CM. [Note if CM’s hauler will be the same contractor or a different contractor]. 

• use best efforts to meet CM’s contamination limits  
 
Non-Eligible Sources 
The regulation states what entities must be serviced by producers during the transition period 
and post transition. These entities are referred to as eligible sources (e.g., residential homes, 
multi-residential buildings, elementary/secondary schools and some long-term care/retirement 
homes). Under the new Blue Box Regulation, CM has no legal obligation to collect blue box 
material from non-eligible sources during or after transition. Non-eligible sources include 
industrial, commercial and institutional properties, community buildings or facilities (e.g., 
libraries, arenas), daycares, places of worship, short-term campgrounds/trailer parks and 
commercial farms (excluding residential homes). 
 
During the transition period, Billings may continue to co-mingle residential and non-eligible 
blue box materials but will be charged back a fee (approximately $200 per tonne) to manage 
the portion of blue box materials from non-eligible sources.  In this case, CM has agreed to a 
5.19% non-eligible source usage rate to be applied to the compensation deduction. This rate 
reflects the estimated amount of non-eligible sources using the depot services. Staff consider 
this cost reasonable for continuing to provide blue box service to non-eligible sources during 
transition. 
 
Starting January 1, 2026, CM will no longer permit the collection of blue box materials from 
non-eligible sources. Therefore, the Township of Billings will need to decide how to manage the 
blue box materials generated by non-eligible sources. Staff will continue to analyze options and 
return to Council at a later date with a recommendation.  
 
 



 
 

Financial Impacts:  
Currently, operation of the blue box program results in a net cost of $10,966.12 per month for 
Billings. This includes hauling, staffing and utilities. 
In the agreement proposed by CM, the Township of Billings will be compensated for the blue 
box program costs as detailed below: 

1. Receive monthly payment from CM of $4,389 per month to operate the blue box 
portion of depot site(s) under the Depot Operations Agreement. Note: this payment 
replaces Stewardship Ontario funding.  

2. Billings will no longer be paying blue box haulage and processing changes which will 
result in a savings of approximately $9,937.75 per month (based on 2024 costs). CM will 
become responsible for these costs.  

3. CM’s costs for the management of blue box materials from non-eligible sources during 
transition, estimated to be $200 per month, will be deducted from CM’s monthly 
payment to Billings. 

 
The proposed financial compensation from CM provides an acceptable level funding for 
operating the blue box program until December 31, 2025. The additional cost to continue to 
provide blue box service to non-eligible sources until December 31, 2025, is also considered 
acceptable.  
 
This agreement was reviewed by the municipalities lawyer as well as the municipal insurance 
provider representative. Neither party had any concerns. 
 
Alignment to Strategic Plan: 
No direct alignment. 
 
Alignment to the CEEP: 
CEEP Vision Statement in Action #4: Reduce overall consumption by promoting circular 
economy concepts and increase waste diversion through recycling rate increases and home 
composting program. 
 
Respectfully Submitted By: 
Tiana Mills, Deputy Clerk 
 
Approved By: 
Véronique Dion, CAO/Clerk 



  

  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

 

ELIGIBLE COMMUNITY  

DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

 

Number 2024 -00-133 

 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

 

Table of Contents 

RECITALS ........................................................................................................................................... 4 

EXHIBIT 1: SCOPE OF WORK AND OTHER PROVISIONS ......................................................................... 7 

Article 1 Definitions ........................................................................................................................... 7 
1.1 Definitions............................................................................................................................ 7 
1.2 Interpretation .................................................................................................................... 10 
1.3 Managed Contract ............................................................................................................. 11 

Article 2 Scope of Collection Services ................................................................................................ 12 
2.1 Scope of Collection Services .............................................................................................. 12 

Article 3 Collection Service Provision ................................................................................................ 13 
3.1 Addition or Removal of Depots ......................................................................................... 13 
3.2 Blue Box Material to be Collected ..................................................................................... 13 
3.3 Non-Eligible Source Deduction .......................................................................................... 14 
3.4 Labour Disruption .............................................................................................................. 14 
3.5 Access to the Work ............................................................................................................ 14 
3.6 Subcontractors .................................................................................................................. 15 

Article 4 Scope of Promotion and Education Service .......................................................................... 16 
4.1 Scope of Promotion and Education Services ..................................................................... 16 

Article 5 Representation and Warranty ............................................................................................. 17 
5.1 Representations and Warranties....................................................................................... 17 

Article 6 Record Keeping and Reporting Requirements...................................................................... 18 
6.1 Record Keeping and Reporting Requirements .................................................................. 18 

Article 7 Failure to Perform, Remedies, Termination ......................................................................... 19 
7.1 Responsibility for Damages/Indemnification .................................................................... 19 
7.2 Limited Liabilities ............................................................................................................... 22 
7.3 Force Majeure ................................................................................................................... 22 
7.4 Agreement Termination .................................................................................................... 23 
7.5 Remedies ........................................................................................................................... 24 
7.6 Disputes ............................................................................................................................. 25 
7.7 Arbitration ......................................................................................................................... 25 
7.8 Choice of Forum ................................................................................................................ 26 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

Article 8 Standard Conditions ........................................................................................................... 26 
8.1 Governing Laws ................................................................................................................. 26 
8.2 Compliance with Laws and Permits ................................................................................... 26 
8.3 Assignment ........................................................................................................................ 26 
8.4 Contractor to Make Examinations..................................................................................... 26 
8.5 Access to Records .............................................................................................................. 26 
8.6 Insurance ........................................................................................................................... 27 
8.7 Changes to Agreement ...................................................................................................... 28 
8.8 Change Management ........................................................................................................ 32 
8.9 Conflicts and Omissions ..................................................................................................... 33 
8.10 Duty to Notify .................................................................................................................... 33 
8.11 Confidentiality Covenant ................................................................................................... 33 
8.12 Severability ........................................................................................................................ 34 
8.13 Survival .............................................................................................................................. 33 
8.14 Further Assurances ............................................................................................................ 33 
8.15 Revisions to this Agreement .............................................................................................. 33 
8.16 Counterparts ...................................................................................................................... 34 
8.17 Notice................................................................................................................................. 34 

EXHIBIT 2: STAFFED DEPOTS IN ELIGIBLE COMMUNITIES ................................................................... 35 

EXHIBIT 3: UNSTAFFED DEPOTS IN ELIGIBLE COMMUNITIES .............................................................. 36 

EXHIBIT 4: BLUE BOX MATERIAL ACCEPTED IN COLLECTION SYSTEM .................................................. 37 

EXHIBIT 5: SERVICE COMMENCEMENT DATES ................................................................................... 40 

EXHIBIT 6: COMPENSATION .............................................................................................................. 41 
 
 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

4  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

This Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of ____________________ (“Effective Date”) 

Between  

The Corporation of the Township of Billings, a corporation incorporated under the laws of Ontario, having 
a place of business at 15 Old Mill Road P.O. Box 34 Kagawong, ON (“Contractor”) 
 
And  

Circular Materials, a federal not-for-profit corporation, having a place of business at 1 St. Clair Avenue 
West, Suite 700, Toronto ON, M4V 1K6, operating as Circular Materials Ontario (“CMO”) 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, CMO is the administrator of the common collection system for Blue Box Material; and  

WHEREAS, CMO issued an offer to the Contractor in connection with the collection of Blue Box Material 
at Depots; and   

WHEREAS, Contractor and CMO (each a “Party”, and collectively the “Parties”) jointly desire to enter into 
this Agreement respecting the collection of Blue Box Material at Depots for the applicable Eligible 
Community; and   

WHEREAS the Contractor agrees to provide the Work in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises, mutual covenants, and agreements contained 
herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties acknowledge and agree to all covenants, terms and conditions as stipulated in 
this Agreement, as follows: 

1. Beginning on the applicable Eligible Community Service Commencement Date listed in Exhibit 5, 
the Contractor shall perform the Work required by this Agreement for all Depots listed in Exhibit 
2 and Exhibit 3.  

2. Unless terminated in accordance with this Agreement, the time period during which the Work 
required by this Agreement is to be performed is from the earliest Eligible Community Service 
Commencement Date listed in Exhibit 5 (or the Eligible Community Service Commencement Date 
if there is only one listed in Exhibit 5) until December 31, 2025.  CMO and the Contractor may, by 
Change Order, extend this Agreement for up to three (3) further periods of one (1) year each. The 
initial term and any such additional term or terms are herein referred to as the “Agreement 
Term”.  

4. The full compensation for the Work under this Agreement shall be as set forth in Exhibit 6, which 
excludes Value Added Taxes. Value Added Taxes are payable by CMO to the Contractor on the 
price of this Agreement. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

5  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

5. In the event of the termination of this Agreement, CMO shall only pay for the Work authorized by 
this Agreement which is performed prior to the termination date. For the purposes of clarity, CMO 
shall not be liable to make any other payments in connection with this Agreement as a result of 
such termination. 

6. Attached and forming an integral part of this Agreement are the following exhibits: 

(i) Exhibit 1 – Scope of Work and Other Provisions; 
(ii) Exhibit 2 – Staffed Depots in Eligible Communities; 

(iii) Exhibit 3 – Unstaffed Depots in Eligible Communities; 
(iv) Exhibit 4 – Blue Box Material Accepted in Collection System;  
(v) Exhibit 5 – Service Commencement Dates; and 

(vi) Exhibit 6 – Compensation. 
 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

6  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the terms and conditions of this Agreement are acknowledged and agreed to by 
the Parties as of the date first listed above.  

The Corporation of the Township of Billings 
 

By:  

 Name:  
 Title:  

By:  

 Name:  
 Title:  
  
 We have authority to bind the Contractor. 

 

 

Circular Materials Ontario 
 

By:  

 Name: Allen Langdon 
 Title:   CEO 
  
 I have authority to bind CMO. 

 

 

 

  



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

7  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

EXHIBIT 1: SCOPE OF WORK AND OTHER PROVISIONS 

ARTICLE 1 
DEFINITIONS 

1.1 Definitions 

“AGREEMENT TERM” has the meaning set out in Section 2 of this Agreement. 

“APPLICABLE LAW” means any federal, provincial, municipal, local, domestic or foreign law, rule, statute, 
subordinate legislation, regulation, by-law, order, ordinance, protocol, code, guideline, treaty, policy, 
notice, direction or judicial, arbitral, administrative, ministerial or departmental judgment, award, decree, 
treaty, directive, or other requirement or guideline published or in force at any time which applies to or 
is otherwise intended to govern or regulate any Person (including any Party), property, transaction, 
activity, event or other matter, which in any way applies to the Work under this Agreement or any Party, 
including any rule, order, judgment, guideline, directive or other requirement or guideline issued by any 
governmental or regulatory authority. Applicable Law shall include privacy laws, the (Ontario) Freedom of 
Information and Protection of Privacy Act, the (Ontario) Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection 
of Privacy Act, the (Canada) Competition Act, the (Ontario) Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario 
Water Resources Act, the (Ontario) Dangerous Goods Transportation Act, the (Ontario) Occupational 
Health and Safety Act, the (Ontario) Resource Recovery and Circular Economy Act, 2016 and the 
Regulation. 

“BLUE BOX MATERIAL” has the meaning set out in the Regulation, except to the extent expressly set out 
otherwise in this Agreement.  

“BUSINESS DAY” means any day from Monday to Friday inclusive, excluding statutory holidays in the 
province of Ontario. 

“CHANGE NOTICE” has the meaning set in Section 8.8(a) of Exhibit 1. 

“CHANGE ORDER” has the meaning set in Section 8.8(f) of Exhibit 1. 

“COLLECTION” means the receipt of Blue Box Material from an Eligible Source at a Depot. 

“COLLECTION SERVICES” means the Work required by this Agreement.  

“CONTRACT PRICE” means the total price payable under this Agreement, as set forth in Exhibit 6.   

“CONTRACTOR DEFAULT” means a failure of the Contractor to comply with the requirements of this 
Agreement.   

“COST ESTIMATE” has the meaning set out in Section 8.8(b) of Exhibit 1. 

“DEPOT” means a Staffed Depot or an Unstaffed Depot or a New Depot. 

“EFFECTIVE DATE” has the meaning set out in the recitals to this Agreement. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

8  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

“ELIGIBLE COMMUNITY” has the meaning set out in the Regulation. 

“ELIGIBLE COMMUNITY SERVICE COMMENCEMENT DATE” means the applicable date on which the Work 
commences in an Eligible Community.  

“ELIGIBLE SOURCES” means, collectively, (i) eligible sources as defined in the Regulation and (ii) sources 
agreed by the Parties to be eligible sources for the purposes of this Agreement.   

“EQUIPMENT” means all machinery, apparatus and other items used in completing the Work.  

“HAZARDOUS WASTE” means: (i) a hazardous and special product or HSP as defined by Ontario Regulation 
449/21 under the (Ontario) Resource Recovery and Circular Economy Act, 2016; or (ii) a hazardous waste 
as defined in Revised Regulations of Ontario 1990, Regulation 347 under the (Ontario) Environmental 
Protection Act.  

“HOUSEHOLD” means (i) a Residence, (ii) a dwelling unit contained within the type of facility described by 
section (a) of the definition of “facility” in the Regulation and (iii) households agreed by the Parties to be 
households for the purposes of this Agreement. 

“LEGISLATIVE CHANGE” means changes in Applicable Law, including repeal, replacement or amendment 
of an Applicable Law, including the Regulation, that give rise to the Work (or any part thereof) no longer 
being required or necessary, as determined by CMO in its sole and absolute discretion.  

“LOSSES AND CLAIMS” means liabilities, claims, demands, losses, costs, expenses, damages, orders, 
penalties, actions, suits and other proceedings (including legal fees and disbursements). 

“MANAGER” means the manager of this Agreement identified by CMO, from time to time, in writing.  

“NEW DEPOT” means a new depot as agreed to by the Parties for the purposes of this Agreement.  

“NON-BLUE BOX MATERIAL” means material that is not Blue Box Material. 

“NON-ELIGIBLE SOURCE” means a source within an Eligible Community listed in Exhibit 5 that is not an 
Eligible Source.  

“NON-ELIGIBLE SOURCE BLUE BOX MATERIAL UNIT PRICE” has the meaning set out in Exhibit 6.  

“NON-ELIGIBLE SOURCE DEDUCTION” has the meaning set out in Section 3.3(a) of Exhibit 1. 

“PERSON” means any individual, partnership, limited partnership, joint venture, syndicate, company or 
corporation with or without share capital, trust, trustee, executor, administrator or other legal personal 
representative, and any federal, provincial or municipal government, regulatory authority, agency, 
tribunal, commission, board or department of any such government or entity however designated or 
constituted.  

“PRIME” means the Bank of Canada’s target for the overnight (interest) rate, as posted from time to time. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

9  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

“PROMOTION AND EDUCATION MATERIAL” means promotion and education materials developed by 
CMO or the Contractor in respect of the Blue Box Material.  

“PROMOTION AND EDUCATION SERVICES” means promotion and education services described in Section 
4.1 of Exhibit 1.  

“REGULATION” means Ontario Regulation 391/21 under the (Ontario) Resource Recovery and Circular 
Economy Act, 2016.  

“RESIDENCE” has the meaning set out in the Regulation. 

“RESIDENTIAL DEPOT OPERATION COSTS” has the meaning set out in Exhibit 6.  

“SINGLE STREAM” means Stream 1 and Stream 2 materials combined. 

“STAFFED DEPOT” means a location listed in Exhibit 2. 

“STREAM 1” has the meaning set out in Section 3.2(e)(i) of Exhibit 1. 

“STREAM 2” has the meaning set out in Section 3.2(e)(ii) of Exhibit 1. 

“SUBCONTRACTOR” means a subcontractor employed by the Contractor pursuant to Section 3.6 of Exhibit 
1. 

“TRANSITION DATE” means the transition date for an Eligible Community set forth in the document of the 
(Ontario) Ministry of Environment, Conservation and Parks entitled “Blue Box Transition Schedule” and 
dated June 1, 2021.  

“UNSTAFFED DEPOT” means a facility listed in Exhibit 3. 

“UNUSUALLY SEVERE ADVERSE WEATHER CONDITIONS” means unusually severe adverse weather 
conditions at the place of the Work which:  

(i) are different from those normally and customarily experienced at the place of the Work 
(as documented by weather data from Environment Canada) over the past twenty (20) years 
taking into consideration severity, duration and time of year conditions; and  

(ii) preclude the safe performance of the Work. 

“VALUE ADDED TAXES” means such sum as shall be levied upon any portion or all of the Contract Price 
(“Taxable Portion”) by the federal or any provincial government and is computed as a percentage of the 
Taxable Portion and includes the Goods and Services Tax, the Harmonized Sales Tax, and any similar tax, 
the collection and payment of which have been imposed on the Contractor by Canadian or provincial tax 
legislation. 

“WORK” means the performance of services including the supply of all materials, Equipment, labour, 
facilities, supervision, services, permits, licenses, or approvals required to complete the Contractor’s 
obligations under this Agreement, including any Change Orders agreed to by the Parties. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

10  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

1.2 Interpretation 

(a) Whenever inconsistent in the context, words used in the present tense include the future 
tense whenever the sense requires. 

(b) The words authorized, directed, required, requested, approved, ordered, sanctioned, and 
satisfactory, unless some other meaning is obvious from the context, shall mean 
respectively authorized, directed, required, approved, or sanctioned by or satisfactory to 
CMO or its appointed representative. 

(c) Where the word “including” or “includes” is used, it means “including (or includes) 
without limitation”. 

(d) The word may in this Agreement denotes permissive. 

(e) The words shall and will in this Agreement denote imperative. 

(f) Any capitalized term used in this Agreement that is not defined in Section 1.1 of Exhibit 1 
or elsewhere in this Agreement will, if applicable, have the meaning set out in the 
Regulation or otherwise will have the generally accepted industry or technical meaning 
given to such term. 

(g) Words importing the singular number will include the plural and vice versa, and words 
importing the use of any gender will include the masculine, feminine and neuter genders. 

(h) The headings in this Agreement are solely for convenience of reference and will not be 
used for purposes of interpreting or construing the provisions hereof. 

(i) Unless otherwise provided for herein, all monetary amounts referred to herein will refer 
to the lawful money of Canada. 

(j) When calculating the period of time within which or following which any act is to be done 
or step taken pursuant to this Agreement, the date which is the reference date in 
calculating such period will be excluded. If the last day of such period is not a Business 
Day, then the time period in question will end on the first Business Day following such 
non-Business Day. 

(k) Any references in this Agreement to any law, by-law, rule, regulation, order or act of any 
government, governmental body or other regulatory body, including any Applicable Law, 
will be construed as a reference thereto as amended or re-enacted from time to time or 
as a reference to any successor thereto. 

(l) This Agreement shall constitute the entire agreement between the Parties and shall 
supersede all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations, and discussions, oral or 
written, between the Parties.  



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

11  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

1.3 Managed Contract 

(a) The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement may be managed for CMO by a 
Manager. As of the Effective Date, CMO identifies RLG Systems Canada Inc. or one or 
more of its affiliates (“RLG”) as the Manager. Notwithstanding any other provision in this 
Agreement, CMO may identify, in writing, its rights under this Agreement, in whole or 
part, that may also be exercised, or enjoyed, by the Manager. 

(b) The Manager: 

(i) shall receive copies of documents provided to CMO or that may be requested by 
CMO and may request copies of documents; 

(ii) shall be notified, along with CMO, pursuant to Sections 1.5 and 1.6 of Exhibit 6 
and Section 8.9(b) of Exhibit 1; and 

(iii) may provide notice to the Contractor pursuant to Section 7.3(d) of Exhibit 1. 

  



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

12  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

ARTICLE 2 
SCOPE OF COLLECTION SERVICES 

2.1 Scope of Collection Services 

(a) The Contractor shall provide Collection Services, including receiving Blue Box Material from 
Eligible Sources at each Depot and storage of Blue Box Material at each Depot in a manner 
that meets or exceeds the standards, level, scope and quality of collection services the Depot 
(or, for a New Depot, a similar Depot) received immediately prior to the Transition Date and 
complies with the terms of this Agreement. 

(b) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Collection Services shall meet the 
applicable requirements of the Regulation, including Sections 24 and 25.   

(c) The Contractor shall retain responsibility for, and control of, Blue Box Material at a Depot 
from receipt from Eligible Sources through to pick up by CMO or a contractor identified by 
CMO from time to time. 

(d) Ownership of the Blue Box Material received at a Depot shall not transfer to the Contractor. 

(e) All Applicable Law shall be complied with by the Contractor in the performance of all portions 
of the Work.  The Contractor is familiar with all Applicable Law.   

(f) If, during the Agreement Term, there is a change in Applicable Law which is in effect as of the 
Effective Date that results in a material impact on the performance of any act required by this 
Agreement, the Parties shall renegotiate the provisions of this Agreement using a Change 
Order pursuant to Section 8.8 of Exhibit 1.  If the Parties are unable to agree on the revised 
terms and conditions either Party may submit the dispute to arbitration in accordance with 
the provisions of this Agreement. 

  



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

13  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

ARTICLE 3 
COLLECTION SERVICE PROVISION  

3.1 Addition or Removal of Depots 

CMO and the Contractor may add New Depots or remove existing Depots, and make related revisions to 
the relevant exhibits, by Change Order. 

3.2 Blue Box Material to be Collected  

(a) The Contractor will receive Blue Box Material, listed in Exhibit 4, delivered by Eligible Sources 
to a Depot.  

(b) The Contractor will use best efforts to reduce the quantity of Non-Blue Box Material in 
collected Blue Box Material to no more than four percent (4%) by weight.  

(c) If the average amount of Non-Blue Box Material in collected Blue Box Material picked up by 
CMO, or a contractor identified by CMO from time to time, from the Depots in any rolling six 
(6) month period exceeds four percent (4%), the Contractor will, within ninety (90) calendar 
days, prepare and implement a plan, working collaboratively with CMO, that includes 
strategies and supporting measures to mitigate the amounts of Non-Blue Box Material. If 
improvement does not occur within ninety (90) calendar days after the start of the plan 
execution, the Contractor will work with CMO to identify and implement additional changes 
and to adopt best practices recommended by CMO. 

(d) The Contractor will use best efforts to not collect Blue Box Material containing Hazardous 
Waste. 

(e) If Blue Box Material is to be collected from Eligible Sources in the Eligible Communities listed 
in Exhibit 5 in a minimum of two streams as set out in Exhibit 4, the separation of the two 
streams is as follows: 

(i) Stream 1 – Paper Products and the following types of Paper Packaging: 

⁃ paper laminates 
⁃ kraft paper carry-out bags 
⁃ kraft paper - non-laminated 
⁃ corrugated cardboard 
⁃ boxboard and other paper packaging 
⁃ gable top containers 
⁃ aseptic containers 

(ii) Stream 2 – Plastic Packaging, Metal Packaging, Glass Packaging 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

14  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

3.3 Non-Eligible Source Deduction 

(a) Subject to Section 3.3(b) of Exhibit 1, the non-eligible source deduction for each calendar 
month ("Non-Eligible Source Deduction") shall be five point one-seven (5.17%) and such 
amount shall be used in the calculation of the Contract Price, pursuant to Exhibit 6.   

(b) If: 

(i) the Contractor has submitted information and documents substantiating, to CMO's 
reasonable satisfaction, that the proportion of Blue Box Material from Non-Eligible 
Sources is less than five point one-seven (5.17%), then, at CMO's discretion, CMO may 
reduce the Non-Eligible Source Deduction upon thirty (30) days written notice; or  

(ii) the amount of Blue Box Material collected differs from the amount expected by CMO, 
based on the typical capture rates of Blue Box Material and the estimated Blue Box 
Material available for collection, then, at CMO's discretion, CMO may increase the 
amount of the Non-Eligible Source Deduction, upon thirty (30) days written notice, to 
reflect the capture rate for Blue Box Material that is within the typical range of 
capture rates, 

and, in either case, such adjusted amount shall be used in the calculation of the Contract Price 
for subsequent calendar months, pursuant to Exhibit 6. 

3.4 Labour Disruption 

(a) If there is a lawful or legal strike, lockout, or work slowdown or other lawful or legal labour 
disruption or job action during the term of this Agreement (the "Lawful LD Period"), the 
Contractor shall, during the Lawful LD Period, conditional on the municipal council’s approval 
of the Contractor’s overall labour disruption contingency plan if council approval is required, 
make best efforts to encourage Eligible Sources who cannot access the depot(s) because of 
the Lawful LD, to separate and retain their Blue Box Material during the Lawful LD Period. 

(b) If the Contractor’s employees engage in an unlawful or illegal strike, lockout, or work 
slowdown or other unlawful or illegal labour disruption or job action during the term of this 
Agreement (the "Unlawful LD Period") that remains unresolved for a period of 30 calendar 
days, CMO may deem a Contractor Default to have occurred.  

(c) Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, during the LD Period, the 
Contractor will not invoice CMO for the cost of collecting the Blue Box Material from Eligible 
Sources that do not receive collection services pursuant to this Agreement. 

3.5 Access to the Work 

(a) Without limiting the generality of any other provision in this Agreement, at all times 
requested by CMO or the Manager during operating hours upon at least 48-hours notice, 
the Contractor shall, at no expense to CMO or the Manager, provide CMO, the Manager 
and their respective professional advisors, auditors and consultants, and any Person 
authorized by CMO or the Manager with access to the Work (including the staff 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

15  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

performing the Work and the Equipment being used to perform the Work) to monitor, 
observe and review any Work (including the staff performing the Work and the 
Equipment being used to perform the Work) being performed, provided that such access 
is not a health and safety risk to the Contractor’s staff, or to CMO’s or the Manager’s 
respective personnel, and the Contractor shall, and shall cause the Subcontractors to, 
provide, and cooperate with CMO or the Manager in providing, such access.  The 
Contractor shall provide access to such Work (including the staff performing the Work 
and the Equipment being used to perform the Work) whenever and wherever it is in 
progress and the Contractor shall provide sufficient, safe and proper facilities in respect 
of such access. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, during such access, CMO 
or the Manager may monitor the Work (including the staff performing the Work and the 
Equipment being used to perform the Work) provided that such monitoring, observing or 
reviewing of the Contractor’s Work or Equipment shall not cause unreasonable delays to 
the Contractor’s performance of the Work. 

(b) If any Work is found by CMO or the Manager, acting reasonably, not to be in accordance 
with the requirements of this Agreement, the Contractor shall, at no expense to CMO or 
the Manager, make good such defective Work.   

(c) CMO, and other parties identified by CMO, shall be entitled to use information obtained 
pursuant to this Section 3.5 of Exhibit 1 for the administration of this Agreement and any 
internal purposes.   

3.6 Subcontractors 

(a) The Contractor may, subject to this Section 3.6, subcontract portions of the Work to 
Subcontractors.  The Contractor shall, and shall cause its Subcontractors to, perform the 
Work in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

(b) The Contractor shall in all cases be fully responsible to CMO for all of its obligations under 
this Agreement that are subcontracted to a Subcontractor and for all acts and omissions 
of all Subcontractors even if such Subcontractor was preselected or approved by CMO. 

 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

16  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

ARTICLE 4 
SCOPE OF PROMOTION AND EDUCATION SERVICE  

4.1 Scope of Promotion and Education Services 

(a) The Contractor will have primary responsibility for providing persons associated with 
Households information about Collection Services, including: 

• the location of every depot collection site and its hours of operation; 

• a list of Blue Box Material that may be delivered to the depot collection sites; 

• a list of materials that may not be included with Blue Box Material when delivered to 
the depot collection sites; and 

• a telephone number and email address at which persons may receive responses to 
questions or concerns relating to collection. 

(b) The Contractor will utilize the Blue Box Material categories and terminology in Exhibit 4 
Blue Box Material Accepted in Collection System in communications with Households.   

(c) The Contractor may:   

(i) incorporate CMO’s Promotion and Education Materials in the Contractor’s 
Promotion and Education Materials; 

(ii) use messaging and images that are developed by CMO in the Contractor’s 
Promotion and Education Materials for the purposes of this Agreement and for 
no other purpose; and 

(iii) distribute CMO’s Promotional and Educational Materials and assist with 
promotion and education at the direction of CMO, including supporting local 
events organized by CMO.   

(d) The number of Households receiving Promotion and Education Services shall be recorded 
in Section 1.9(a) of Exhibit 6 and may be updated to reflect any Change Orders under this 
Agreement.   

 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

17  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

ARTICLE 5 
REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTY  

5.1 Representations and Warranties 

Contractor represents and warrants to and covenants with CMO that:  

(a) it is duly incorporated, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of its 
jurisdiction of incorporation, and is duly qualified to do business in all jurisdictions in 
which qualification is necessary in order to transact its business and perform its 
obligations set out in this Agreement; 

(b) it has full power, authority, and right to execute and deliver this Agreement, to make the 
representations, warranties, and covenants set out herein, and to perform its obligations 
under this Agreement in accordance with its terms. This Agreement has been validly 
executed by an authorized representative of Contractor, and constitutes a valid and 
legally binding and enforceable obligation of Contractor and the execution and delivery 
of this Agreement and the consummation of the matters contemplated by this Agreement 
have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate and other actions on the part of the 
Contractor; 

(c) if applicable, it has consulted with any lower tier municipalities in which the Work will be 
delivered or members of the Contractor, as the case may be, and obtained any necessary 
authorization from such lower tier municipalities or members of the Contractor, as the 
case may be; 

(d) it has and will, at its own expense, procure all permits, certificates and licenses required 
by Applicable Law for the performance of the Work;  

(e) in performing its obligations under this Agreement, the Contractor shall exercise the 
standard of care, skill, judgment and diligence that would normally be provided by an 
experienced and prudent contractor supplying similar services and work; and 

(f) it is a registrant within the meaning of Part IX of the Excise Tax Act and shall provide CMO 
with its harmonized sales tax (“HST”) number. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

18  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

ARTICLE 6 
RECORD KEEPING AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

6.1 Record Keeping and Reporting Requirements 

(a) The Contractor shall provide an inventory of Equipment for each Depot prior to the Eligible 
Community Service Commencement Date and shall submit an updated inventory of 
Equipment for each Depot on an annual basis. 

(b) The Contractor shall retain records for the Blue Box Material that is collected including a 
record of the number of containers picked up by CMO or a contractor identified by CMO, or 
the Manager, from time to time and the date on which the containers were picked up.  The 
Contractor will provide a copy of the Contractor’s records if requested by CMO or the 
Manager.   

 

 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

19  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

ARTICLE 7 
FAILURE TO PERFORM, REMEDIES, TERMINATION  

7.1 Responsibility for Damages/Indemnification 

(a) Contractor Indemnity 

(i) The Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless CMO, the Manager and their 
respective officers, directors, employees, agents and representatives 
(collectively, the “CMO Indemnitees”) from and against any and all Losses and 
Claims brought against, suffered, sustained or incurred by the CMO Indemnitees, 
directly or indirectly arising out of this Agreement attributable, wholly or in part, 
to: 

(A) bodily injury, sickness, disease or death or to damage to or destruction of 
tangible property occurring in or on the premises or any part thereof and 
as a result of activities under this Agreement; 

(B) any negligent acts or omissions by, or willful misconduct of, the 
Contractor, its officers, agents, servants, employees, licensees or 
subcontractors, including failing to exercise the standard of care, skill 
judgment and diligence required pursuant to Section 5.1(e) of Exhibit 1;  

(C) failure to comply with, or breach of, any of the Contractor’s obligations 
under this Agreement; 

(D) damages caused by the Contractor, its officers, agents, servants, 
employees, licensees or subcontractors, or arising from the execution of 
the Work, or by reason of the existence or location or condition of Work 
or any materials, plan or Equipment used thereof or therein, or which 
may happen by reason of the failure of the Contractor, its officers, agents, 
servants, employees, licensees or subcontractors to do or perform any or 
all of the several acts or things required to be done by them under this 
Agreement; 

(E) any assessment (including compliance orders and administrative 
penalties) or allegations of non-compliance under the Regulation or the 
(Ontario) Resource Recovery and Circular Economy Act, 2016 directly 
attributable, in whole or in part, to the acts or omissions of the 
Contractor, its officers, agents, servants, employees, licensees or 
subcontractors, except to the extent such assessment is attributable to 
the negligence, willful misconduct or breach of this Agreement by CMO; 

(F) any failure or delay by CMO to submit any required report or other 
information to the registry, as defined in the (Ontario) Resource Recovery 
and Circular Economy Act, 2016 resulting from the acts or omissions of 
the Contractor, its officers, agents, servants, employees, licensees or 
subcontractors; 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

20  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

(G) any failure of the Contractor, its officers, agents, servants, employees, 
licensees or subcontractors to comply with the (Ontario) Occupational 
Health and Safety Act (or the regulations thereunder);  

(H) any finding or declaration that a CMO Indemnitee is an “employer” for 
the purposes of the (Ontario) Occupational Health and Safety Act in 
connection with a breach of the (Ontario) Occupational Health and Safety 
Act (or the regulations thereunder) by the Contractor, its officers, agents, 
servants, employees, licensees or subcontractors in connection with the 
Work; or 

(I) any fines, penalties or orders of any kind that may be levied or made in 
connection therewith pursuant to the (Ontario) Environmental Protection 
Act, the Ontario Water Resources Act, the (Ontario) Dangerous Goods 
Transportation Act or other similar Applicable Law, whether federal or 
provincial, due to the presence of, or exposure to, or release of (including 
any spill discharge, escape, emission, leak, deposit, dispersion, or 
migration into the environment) any hazardous materials, contaminants 
or pollutants in, into or through the natural environment in relation to 
the Work. 

(ii) Without limiting the generality of any other provision in this Agreement, the 
Contractor shall indemnify and hold the CMO Indemnitees harmless from and 
against any and all Losses and Claims brought against, suffered, sustained or 
incurred by the CMO Indemnitees attributable to, wholly or in part, any acts or 
omissions either in negligence or nuisance whether wilful or otherwise by the 
Contractor, its officers, agents, servants, employees, licensees or subcontractors. 

(iii) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, indemnification by the 
Contractor pursuant to this Section 7.1(a) of Exhibit 1 shall include claims, 
demands, actions, suits and other proceeding by Persons against the CMO 
Indemnitees for consequential, indirect, incidental, special, exemplary, punitive 
or aggravated damages, loss profits or revenues or diminution in value. 

(iv) The Contractor acknowledges that CMO holds the benefit of any provision in this 
Agreement, including under this Section 7.1(a) of Exhibit 1, that is expressly 
intended to extend to include the Manager, as a third-party beneficiary, as 
trustee and agent for the Manager. CMO shall be entitled to enforce the rights of 
the Manager, as a third party beneficiary, under such provisions. 

(b) CMO Indemnity 

CMO shall indemnify and hold harmless the Contractor, and its respective elected 
officials, officers, directors, employees, agents and representatives (the "Contractor 
Indemnitees") from and against any and all Losses or Claims brought against, suffered, 
sustained or incurred by the Contractor Indemnitees, directly or indirectly arising out of 
this Agreement attributable, wholly or in part, to any negligent acts or omissions by, or 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

21  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

willful misconduct of, CMO, its officers, agents, servants, employees, licensees or 
contractors (other than the Contractor). 

7.2 Limited Liabilities 

(a) Subject to Section 7.2(b) of Exhibit 1, the total cumulative liability of the Contractor to 
CMO for all Losses and Claims of any kind with respect to this Agreement, whether based 
on tort, negligence, contract, warranty, strict liability or otherwise shall be the total 
amount of the Contract Price paid to the Contractor for the Work, provided that in the 
first twelve (12) months after the Effective Date, such total cumulative liability shall be 
the greater of (i)  the total amount of the Contract Price paid to the Contractor for the 
Work and (ii) CMO’s reasonable estimate of the Contract Price expected to be paid to the 
Contractor for the Work during the first twelve (12) months after the Effective Date (the 
“Contractor Liability Threshold”). 

(b) The Contractor Liability Threshold and Section 7.2(a) of Exhibit 1 shall not apply to any 
Losses and Claims arising out of, or in consequence of, any one or more of the following 
for which there shall be no limit of liability: 

(i) all costs to complete the Work, in accordance with this Agreement that are in 
excess of Contract Price; and 

(ii) indemnification by the Contractor as set out in Section 7.1(a) of Exhibit 1. 

(c) Subject to 7.2(d) of Exhibit 1, the total cumulative liability of CMO to the Contractor for 
all Losses and Claims of any kind with respect to this Agreement, whether based on tort, 
negligence, contract, warranty, strict liability or otherwise shall be the total amount of 
the Contract Price paid to the Contractor for the Work, provided that in the first twelve 
(12) months after the Effective Date, such total cumulative liability shall be the greater of 
(i) the total amount of the Contract Price paid to the Contractor for the Work and (ii) 
CMO’s reasonable estimate of the Contract Price expected to be paid to the Contractor 
for the Work during the first twelve (12) months after the Effective Date (the “CMO 
Liability Threshold”). 

(d) The CMO Liability Threshold and Section 7.2(c) of Exhibit 1 shall not apply to any Losses 
and Claims arising out of, or in consequence of, indemnification by CMO as set out in 
Section 7.1(b) of Exhibit 1 for which there shall be no limit of liability. 

7.3 Force Majeure 

(a) Subject to Section 7.3(b) of Exhibit 1, “Force Majeure Event” means any event or 
circumstance beyond the reasonable control of either CMO or the Contractor (other than 
a lack of funds or other financial reason) including the following:  

(i) Unusually Severe Adverse Weather Conditions; and 

(ii) riots, war, rebellion, sabotage and atomic or nuclear incidents. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

22  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

(b) A Force Majeure Event shall not include the following events or circumstances: 

(i) weather conditions that are not Unusually Severe Adverse Weather Conditions; 

(ii) an electricity system outage, unless the electricity system outage affects an entire 
Eligible Community and persists for at least forty-eight (48) hours and is caused 
by a Force Majeure Event; 

(iii) unavailability of, or delays in delivery or breakage of, or shortage of, Equipment 
or materials, unless such unavailability, delays, breakage or shortage are caused 
by a Force Majeure Event;  

(iv) the quantity of Blue Box Material collected or received differs from the 
Contractor’s expectations;  

(v) delay or other failure arising out of the nature of the Work to be done, or from 
any normal difficulties that may be encountered in the performance of the Work, 
having regard to the nature thereof;   

(vi) if and to the extent the Party seeking to invoke the Force Majeure Event has 
caused the applicable Force Majeure Event by its (and, in the case of the 
Contractor, Subcontractor’s) fault or negligence; or 

(vii) if and to the extent the Party seeking to invoke the Force Majeure Event has failed 
to use reasonable efforts to prevent or remedy the Force Majeure Event, so far 
as possible and within a reasonable time period. 

(c) A Party that experiences a Force Majeure Event shall use all commercially reasonable 
efforts to end the Force Majeure Event, ensure the effects of the Force Majeure Event are 
minimized and resume full performance under this Agreement. 

(d) In the event that either CMO or the Contractor shall be unable to fulfil, or shall be delayed, 
or shall be prevented from the fulfilment of, its obligation under this Agreement by reason 
of a Force Majeure Event, then either Party shall forthwith notify the other in writing and 
CMO shall:  

(i) terminate this Agreement or any affected Statements of Work as soon as 
reasonably practicable in writing and without any further payments being made; 
and  

(ii) perform, or engage others to perform, the obligations under this Agreement that 
are impacted by the Force Majeure Event; or 

(iii) authorize the Contractor to continue the performance of this Agreement in 
writing with such adjustments and/or amendments as required by the existence 
of the Force Majeure Event and as agreed upon by both Parties acting reasonably. 
If the Parties cannot agree upon the adjustments and/or amendments, it is 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

23  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

agreed by the Parties that this Agreement shall be immediately terminated with 
no further obligations by either Party. 

For clarity, the Contractor shall not be entitled to be paid for obligations under this 
Agreement that it does not perform as a result of a Force Majeure Event. 

(e) For the purposes of clarification and notwithstanding any other provision in this 
Agreement, the Contractor shall be solely responsible for maintaining all Work, including 
collection services, as applicable, in all circumstances that are not Force Majeure Events, 
in compliance with the requirements of this Agreement.    

7.4 Agreement Termination  

(a) Any termination of this Agreement or termination of the Contractor’s right to perform 
the Work (or any part thereof) by CMO shall be without prejudice to any other rights or 
remedies CMO may have.  

(b) Without prejudice to any other right or remedy CMO may have under this Agreement, 
CMO may terminate this Agreement or terminate the Contractor’s right to perform the 
Work (or any part thereof) as follows:  

(i) notwithstanding any other section of this Agreement, if there is a Legislative 
Change, immediately, upon written notice being provided to the Contractor; 

(ii) if there is a Contractor Default and the Contractor has failed to cure such 
Contractor Default within fifteen (15) Business Days after receipt of notice of such 
Contractor Default, or within such other time as mutually agreed between the 
Parties, immediately, upon written notice being provided to the Contractor; and  

(iii) if the Parties cannot agree upon a Change Order upon thirty (30) days’ written 
notice being provided to the Contractor. 

(c) If CMO terminates this Agreement as noted above, CMO is entitled to:  

(i) Take possession immediately of all the Blue Box Material; 

(ii) Withhold any further payments to the Contractor until the completion of the 
Work; and  

(iii) Recover from the Contractor, any loss, damage, and expense incurred by CMO by 
reason of the Contractor’s default under Sections 7.4(b)(ii) or 7.4(b)(iii) of Exhibit 
1, which may be deducted from any monies due, or becoming due, to the 
Contractor.  

(d) For clarity, if CMO terminates this Agreement because of a Legislative Change or pursuant 
to Section 7.4(b)(iii) of Exhibit 1, then, subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, 
CMO shall only be required to pay the Contractor for the Work performed prior to the 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

24  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

date of termination, less any amounts already paid for Work performed, and not for lost 
profits. 

7.5 Remedies  

(a) The rights and remedies of CMO as set forth in any provision of this Agreement, including 
Section 7.4 of Exhibit 1, shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights or 
remedies provided by law or in equity or otherwise.  

(b) The exercise of any remedy provided by this Agreement does not relieve the Contractor 
from any liability remaining under this Agreement.  

(c) CMO may take such steps as it considers necessary to remedy any breach of contract and 
any damages or expenditures thereby incurred by CMO plus a reasonable allowance for 
overhead may be collected by deduction or set-off pursuant to Section 7.4(b) of Exhibit 
1.   

(d) No waiver of any right or obligation of either Party hereto shall be effective unless in 
writing, specifying such waiver, and executed by the Party against whom such waiver is 
sought to be enforced.  Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, no failure to 
exercise, or delay in exercising, any rights, remedy, power or privilege arising from this 
Agreement shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or 
partial exercise of any right, remedy, power, or privilege hereunder preclude any other or 
further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power, or privilege. A 
waiver by either Party of any of its rights under this Agreement on any occasion shall not 
be a bar to the exercise of the same right on any subsequent occasion or of any other 
right at any time. 

7.6 Disputes  

(a) If there is a dispute between CMO and the Contractor as to their respective rights and 
obligations, the Parties shall use the following dispute resolution procedures to resolve 
such dispute:  

(i) The Parties shall attempt to resolve the dispute through informal discussions with 
the assistance of the Manager;  

(ii) If, after a period of ten (10) Business Days, either Party believes the dispute will 
not be resolved through informal discussion, the dispute shall be referred by the 
Parties to non-binding mediation whereby the fees and expenses of the mediator 
will be divided equally (i.e., 50/50) between CMO and the Contractor. The 
mediator will be appointed jointly by the Parties; and  

(iii) If the Parties are unable to resolve the dispute within a period of thirty (30) 
calendar days after the first mediation session, the dispute shall be resolved 
through binding arbitration in accordance with Section 7.7 of Exhibit 1. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

25  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

7.7 Arbitration  

(a) As provided for in Section 7.6(a)(iii) of Exhibit 1, disputes shall be resolved through binding 
arbitration in accordance with the Arbitration Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c.17 (“Arbitration 
Act”), as amended from time to time. 

(b) CMO and the Contractor shall agree on an arbitrator within ten (10) Business Days after 
either Party receives notice from the other Party. If the Parties fail to agree, either Party 
may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of an arbitrator in 
accordance with the Arbitrations Act, as amended. 

(c) No one shall be named or act as an arbitrator who is interested in any way financially in 
this Agreement or in the business affairs of either Party or has been directly or indirectly 
involved to settle the matter.  

(d) The arbitrator is not authorized to make any decision inconsistent with this Agreement, 
nor shall the arbitrator modify or amend any of this Agreement terms.  

(e) The Parties agree that the award made by the Arbitrator shall be final and binding and 
shall in all respect be kept and observed.  

(f) The arbitrator, or arbitral tribunal, will apportion the costs of the arbitration to the 
Parties. 

(g) The Contractor shall be deemed to abandon the matter if no arbitrator has been 
appointed within six (6) months of CMO’s receipt of the notice specified in Section 7.7(b) 
of Exhibit 1. 

(h) No matter may be submitted to arbitration except in accordance with the above 
provisions.  

7.8 Choice of Forum 

Any legal suit, action, litigation, or proceeding of any kind whatsoever in any way arising out of, from or 
relating to this Agreement shall be instituted in the courts of the City of Toronto, Ontario, and each Party 
irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts in any such suit, action, litigation or 
proceeding. Service of process, summons, notice, or other document by mail or personal service to such 
Party’s address set forth herein shall be effective service of process for any suit, action, litigation or other 
proceeding brought in any such court. Each Party agrees that a final judgment in any such suit, action, 
litigation, or proceeding is conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment 
or in any other manner provided by law. The Parties irrevocably and unconditionally waive any objection 
to the venue of any action or proceeding in such courts and irrevocably waive and agree not to plead or 
claim in any such court that any such action or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in 
an inconvenient forum.



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

26  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

ARTICLE 8  STANDARD CONDITIONS  

8.1 Governing Laws 

This Agreement will be interpreted and governed by the laws of the Province of Ontario. 

8.2 Compliance with Laws and Permits 

(a) The Contractor shall comply in all material respects with Applicable Laws and shall 
perform and complete the Work, and cause the Work to be performed and completed, in 
accordance with and in compliance with all Applicable Laws, including all Applicable Laws 
related to the environment and health and safety.  If there is a conflict between the 
standards required by Applicable Laws, then Contractor shall perform and complete the 
Work in compliance with the higher or more rigorous standard. 

(b) The Contractor shall obtain, and shall ensure Subcontractors obtain, all permits, 
permissions, licences, and approvals required to perform the Work. 

8.3 Assignment 

This Agreement enures to the benefit of and is binding upon the Contractor and CMO and their successors 
and permitted assigns.  The Contractor shall not assign, transfer (including a change in control of Contractor), 
convey or otherwise dispose of this Agreement, including any rights or obligations under this Agreement, or 
its power to execute such Agreement, without the prior written consent of CMO. 

8.4 Contractor to Make Examinations 

The Contractor has made its own examination, investigation, and research regarding proper methods of 
providing the Work and all conditions affecting the Work under this Agreement, and the labour, 
Equipment and materials needed thereon, and the quantity of the work to be performed. The Contractor 
agrees that it has satisfied itself based on its own investigation and research regarding all such conditions, 
that its conclusion to enter into this Agreement was based upon such investigation and research, and that 
it shall make no claim against CMO because of any of the estimates, statements or interpretations made 
by any officer or agent of CMO that may be erroneous. 

8.5 Access to Records 

(a) The Contractor shall maintain in its designated local office full and complete operations, 
customer and service accounts, and records, as applicable to the Work, including records 
related to Collection Services and Promotion and Education Services, in each case in 
accordance with the Regulation (collectively, the “Records”) that at any reasonable time 
shall be open for inspection and copying for any reasonable purpose by CMO or the 
Manager. CMO or the Manager shall be allowed access to the Records for audit (including, 
as applicable to the Work, for an audit of practices and procedures implemented in 
respect of Part VI of the Regulation in accordance with Section 67 of the Regulation) and 
review purposes. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

27  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

(b) The Contractor shall make available copies of records for Blue Box Material picked up by 
CMO under this Agreement on request within two (2) Business Days of the request by 
CMO or the Manager. 

(c) All records related to this Agreement, including the Records, shall be maintained, and 
access granted pursuant to this Section 8.5 of Exhibit 1, throughout the term of this 
Agreement and for at least five (5) years thereafter. 

8.6 Insurance 

(a) The Contractor shall at its own expense obtain and maintain for the term of this 
Agreement: 

(i) Commercial general liability insurance on an occurrence basis for an amount not 
less than five million ($5,000,000) dollars per each occurrence, five million 
($5,000,000) dollars general aggregate and a two million ($2,000,000) dollars 
products-completed operations aggregate limit.  The policy shall include CMO 
and the Manager as additional insureds with respect to the Contractor’s 
operations, acts and omissions relating to its obligations under this Agreement, 
such policy to include non-owned automobile liability, bodily injury, property 
damage, contractual liability, owners and contractors protective, products and 
completed operations, contingent employers liability, cross liability and 
severability of interest clauses;  

(ii) Automobile liability insurance for an amount not less than five million 
($5,000,000) dollars per occurrence on forms meeting statutory requirements 
covering all owned, non-owned, operated, hired, and leased vehicles used in 
connection with this Agreement. The policy shall be endorsed to provide 
contractual liability coverage; 

(iii) Environmental impairment liability insurance (on a claims made or occurrence 
made basis), covering the work and services described in this Agreement 
including coverage for loss or claims arising from contamination to third party 
property damage, bodily injury, cleanup costs and legal defense during the 
execution of this Agreement. Such policy shall provide coverage for an amount 
not less than two million ($2,000,000) dollars and shall remain in force for twelve 
(12) months following completion of work; and 

(iv) “All risks” property insurance in amounts sufficient to fully cover, on a replacement 
cost basis without deduction for depreciation, any building in which the Work is being 
performed and the Equipment contained therein and all other property owned by the 
Contractor or by others located therein including equipment, furniture and fixtures. 

(b) The Contractor shall not commence work until documentation evidencing the insurance 
requirements of the Contractor, have been filed and accepted by CMO. The 
documentation shall be certificates of insurance if purchased from a third party or 
evidence of self-insurance if applicable.   



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

28  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

(c) The Commercial General Liability policy is to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the 
following provisions: 

(i) The Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be the primary insurance with respect 
to CMO, the Manager and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents 
and representatives. Any insurance, self-insurance, or insurance pool coverage 
maintained by CMO or the Manager shall be more than the Contractor’s 
insurance and shall not contribute with it; 

(ii) Coverage shall state that the Contractor’s insurance shall apply separately to each 
insured against whom claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the 
limits of the insurer’s liability; and 

(iii) Policies for the above must be kept continuous throughout the term of this 
Agreement.  If any of the above policies are being cancelled, the Contractor shall 
notify CMO and the Manager in writing at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to 
the effective date of cancellation. The Contractor shall provide proof of renewal 
or replacement of any other policies of insurance, on or before the expiry date, 
at the request of the CMO or Manager. CMO reserves the right to request such 
higher limits of insurance or other types of policies appropriate to the Work as 
CMO may reasonably require. 

(d) All coverages for Subcontractors shall be subject to the same insurance requirements as 
stated herein for the Contractor. 

8.7 Changes to Agreement  

(a) Changes to this Agreement may only be made in writing signed by duly authorized 
representatives of both Parties. 

(b) No Party shall have any obligation with respect to the implementation of a Change Order 
unless or until the Parties have reached agreement in writing. 

8.8 Change Management 

(a) CMO shall be entitled to propose changes, alterations and/or amendments to the Work 
including removing all or a portion of the Work under any Statements of Work.  If CMO 
deems it prudent to require a change in the Work, CMO shall notify the Contractor of the 
proposed change in the Work in writing (“Change Notice”).  Without limiting the 
foregoing, CMO may issue a Change Notice using the Manager. 

(b) A Change Notice shall describe the change in the Work in sufficient detail to enable the 
Contractor to calculate and provide a change in cost estimate (the “Cost Estimate”), if 
any. The Contractor agrees that the Cost Estimate shall be provided in writing to CMO 
within a period of fifteen (15) Business Days or other timeline agreed to with CMO in 
writing from the date of receipt of the Change Notice. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

29  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

(c) The Cost Estimate shall include but is not limited to the following as it relates to the 
change in Work: 

(i) A comment on whether relief from compliance with Contractor’s obligations 
under this Agreement is required; 

(ii) Any impact on Contractor’s ability to meet its obligations and the terms and 
conditions set out in this Agreement; 

(iii) Any amendment that may be required to be made to the terms and/or conditions 
of this Agreement; and 

(iv) Any change in the Contractor‘s costs. 

(d) As soon as practicable after CMO receives the Cost Estimate, the Parties shall act in good 
faith to resolve the issues set out in the Cost Estimate and Change Notice, including 
providing evidence that the Contractor has used best efforts, such as (where practicable) 
the use of competitive quotes with its subcontractors to minimize any increase in costs 
and maximize any reduction in costs, demonstrating that any expenditure to be incurred 
or avoided has been determined in a cost effective manner, and any other evidence 
deemed appropriate by the Contractor and CMO, acting reasonably. 

(e) If the Contractor does not intend to use its own resources to implement any change in 
the Work, subject to prior written approval of CMO, the Contractor may subcontract the 
required resources with the objective of ensuring that it obtains best value for money 
when procuring any Work, services, supplies, materials, or Equipment required in relation 
to the change in the Work. 

(f) If the Parties agree to the Cost Estimate and Change Notice, as may be modified, amended 
or altered by the Parties, the Parties shall document the applicable changes to this 
Agreement (“Change Order”) in respect of such modified, amended or altered Cost 
Estimate and Change Notice within five (5) Business Days after the Contractor receives 
confirmation from CMO that such Cost Estimate and Change Notice are accepted. For 
clarity, the Cost Estimate and Change Notice shall not be implemented, unless and until, 
the Parties have entered into a Change Order in respect of such Cost Estimate and Change 
Notice. 

(g) Any change in the Work that causes, or is expected to cause, the Contractor’s costs or any 
subcontractor’s costs to decrease shall be treated as a benefit to the Contractor with the 
expectation and understanding that CMO will also realize a proportional financial benefit 
in an amount to be negotiated in good faith between the Parties. If such an understanding 
cannot be reached, the Parties agree to resolve the difference through the dispute 
resolution provisions set out in this Agreement.   

(h) Contractor’s Proposed Change in the Work: 

(i) If the Contractor seeks to propose a change in the Work in accordance with an 
express entitlement in this Agreement, it must notify CMO in writing. The 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

30  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

Contractor, in proposing a change in the Work, agrees to provide CMO with the 
following information and details in writing: 

• A description of the proposed change in the Work in sufficient detail, to 
enable CMO to evaluate it in full; 

• Reasons in support of the Contractor’s proposed change in Work; 

• Set out the details and implications of the change in the Work, including any 
anticipated change in the costs of providing the Work by the Contractor; 

• Indicate whether a variation to the Contract Price is proposed (and, if so, 
provide a detailed Cost Estimate of such proposed change); and 

• Identify an appropriate timeframe for the implementation of the change in 
Work. 

(ii) CMO agrees that it shall, in a timely manner, and in any event no later than fifteen 
(15) Business Days, evaluate the Contractor’s proposed change in the Work, 
considering all relevant issues, including whether: 

• A change in the Contract Price will occur; 

• The change affects the quality of the Work or the likelihood of successful 
delivery of the amended Work; 

• The change will interfere with any relationship of CMO with third parties; 

• The financial strength of the Contractor is sufficient to perform the change; 
and 

• The change materially affects the risks or costs to which CMO is exposed. 

(iii) If CMO accepts the Contractor’s proposed change in the Work, the change in the 
Work shall be set out in a Change Order documenting all changes to the scope of 
Work and/or terms and conditions of this Agreement.  Where CMO accepts the 
Contractor’s change proposal CMO shall notify the Contractor in a timely manner. 

(iv) If CMO rejects the Contractor’s change proposal, CMO shall provide written 
reasons outlining the basis upon which the change in Work is not accepted by 
CMO. 

(v) Unless CMO specifically agrees to an increase in the Contract Price in writing, 
there shall be no increase in price because of a change in the Work proposed by 
the Contractor. 

(vi) Any change in the Work proposed by the Contractor that causes or that is 
expected to cause the Contractor’s costs or any subcontractor’s costs to decrease 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

31  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

shall be treated as a benefit with expectation that CMO will also realize a 
proportional financial benefit in an amount to be negotiated in good faith 
between the Parties. The Parties agree to take all reasonable steps to negotiate 
the proportional financial benefit in good faith, failing which the Parties agree to 
resolve the difference through the dispute resolution provisions set out in this 
Agreement. 

(i) Except as specifically confirmed in writing by the Parties in accordance with this Section 
8.8 of Exhibit 1, all Work shall remain unaltered and shall be performed in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

8.9 Conflicts and Omissions 

(a) Neither Party to this Agreement shall take advantage of any apparent error or omission 
in this Agreement.  Any Work not herein specified which is necessary for the proper 
performance and completion of any Work contemplated, which may be implied as 
included in this Agreement, shall be done by the Contractor as if such Work had been 
specified and shall not be construed as a variation of the Work. 

(b) If the Contractor discovers any provision in this Agreement which is contrary to, or 
inconsistent with any Applicable Law, the Contractor shall forthwith report the 
inconsistency or conflict to CMO in writing and shall not perform the Work impacted by 
such inconsistency or conflict until it receives instructions from CMO.  

8.10 Duty to Notify 

If the Contractor becomes aware of any problem and/or condition which may adversely affect the 
performance of the Work, or the ability of the Contractor to conform with any requirements for the term 
of this Agreement, then the Contractor shall promptly, and in no event more than two (2) Business Days 
after becoming aware of same, notify CMO, in writing, of such occurrence and of the nature of the relevant 
problem or condition in sufficient detail to permit CMO to understand the nature and scope thereof.  In 
any event, the Contractor will provide such written progress reports to CMO as reasonably requested by 
CMO but not less frequently than monthly unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CMO.  

8.11 Confidentiality Covenant 

(a) Confidential Information means information of or relating to a party (the “Disclosing 
Party”) that is designated as confidential or that reasonably should be understood to be 
confidential given the nature of the information and the circumstances of disclosure and 
has or will come into the possession or knowledge of the other party (the “Receiving 
Party”) whether such information is or has been conveyed verbally or in written or other 
tangible form, and whether such information is acquired directly or indirectly such as in 
the course of discussions or other investigations by the Receiving Party. Without limiting 
the foregoing, Confidential Information includes all technical, financial and business 
information, ideas, concepts or know-how, or relating to Work performance and Work 
delivery and the terms of this Agreement. Confidential Information does not include 
information that: (i) was already known to the Receiving Party, without obligation to keep 
it confidential, at the time of its receipt from the Disclosing Party; or (ii) is or becomes 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

32  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

available to the public other than as a result of a breach hereof by the Receiving Party; 
provided that the foregoing exceptions will not apply with respect to any personal 
information that is subject to privacy laws (“Confidential Information”). 

(b) The Receiving Party shall:  

(i) take all measures reasonably required to maintain the confidentiality and security 
of the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party; 

(ii) not use or reproduce Confidential Information for any purpose, other than as 
reasonably required to exercise or perform its rights or obligations under this 
Agreement;  

(iii) not disclose any Confidential Information other than to employees, agents or 
subcontractors of the Receiving Party (“Representatives”) to the extent, and only 
to the extent, they have a need to know the Confidential Information in order for 
Receiving Party to exercise its rights or perform its obligations under this 
Agreement and who are bound by a legal obligation to protect the received 
Confidential Information from unauthorized use or disclosure; and  

(iv) be responsible for any breach of this Agreement by any of its Representatives. 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the Receiving Party may disclose Confidential Information of 
the Disclosing Party to the extent required by a court of competent jurisdiction or other 
governmental authority or otherwise as required by Applicable Law, provided that, unless 
prohibited by Applicable Law, the Receiving Party gives the Disclosing Party an 
opportunity to oppose the disclosure or to seek a protective order protecting such 
Confidential Information prior to any such disclosure. 

(d) Upon expiry or termination of this Agreement, or upon request by the Disclosing Party, 
the Receiving Party will return to the Disclosing Party, or irrecoverably destroy, any 
Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party. 

(e) Contractor will not access, collect, use, disclose, dispose of or otherwise handle 
information of or about individuals that is subject to Applicable Laws relating to privacy 
(“Privacy Laws”) in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, except: (i) to 
the extent necessary to perform the Work; (ii) in accordance with all Privacy Laws; and 
(iii) in a manner that enables CMO to comply with all Privacy Laws, including that the 
Contractor will obtain appropriate consents from the applicable individuals to allow 
Contractor and CMO to exercise their rights and to perform their obligations under this 
Agreement as they relate to such information. Unless prohibited by Applicable Law, 
Contractor will immediately notify CMO of any demand, or request by a third party 
(including any government or a regulatory authority) for the disclosure of any information 
of CMO which is subject to Privacy Laws, and, to the maximum extent permitted by 
Applicable Law, will oppose, seek judicial relief of and appeal any such demand or request. 
Contractor will immediately notify CMO if Contractor becomes aware that Contractor has 
failed to comply with Privacy Laws in connection with of this Agreement. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

33  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

(f) Each Party agrees and acknowledges that any violation of this Section 8.11 of Exhibit 1 
may cause irreparable injury to the other Party and that, in addition to any other remedies 
that may be available (in law, in equity or otherwise), the injured Party shall be entitled 
to seek an injunction, specific performance or other equitable relief against the 
threatened breach of this Section 8.11 of Exhibit 1 or the continuation of any such breach, 
without the necessity of proving actual damages or posting any bond or other security. 

8.12 Severability 

(a) If, for any reason, any part, term, or provision of this Agreement is held by a court of the 
Province of Ontario to be illegal, void or unenforceable, the validity of the remaining 
provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the Parties shall be 
construed and enforced as if this Agreement did not contain the particular provision held 
to be invalid. 

(b) If it should appear that any provision hereof conflicts with any statutory provision of the 
Province of Ontario or Government of Canada, said provision, which may conflict 
therewith, shall be deemed inoperative and null and void insofar as it may be in conflict 
therewith, and shall be deemed modified to conform to such statutory provisions. 

8.13 Survival 

All provisions of this Agreement which expressly or by their nature survive the expiry or termination of 
this Agreement shall survive the expiry or termination of this Agreement, including the following: Section 
7.1 (Responsibility for Damages/Indemnification), Section 7.2 (Limited Liabilities), Section 7.4 (Agreement 
Termination) and Section 8.11 (Confidentiality Covenant), all of Exhibit 1. 

8.14 Further Assurances 

Each Party shall, at its expense, do, execute and deliver, or cause to be done, executed and delivered, such 
further acts and documents as the other Party may reasonably request from time to time for the purpose 
of giving effect to this Agreement or carrying out the intention or facilitating the performance of the terms 
of this Agreement. 

8.15 Revisions to this Agreement 

Except as otherwise expressly stated in this Agreement, no amendment, supplement, modification or 
waiver or termination of this Agreement and, unless otherwise specified, no consent or approval by any 
Party, is binding unless executed in writing and signed by an authorized representative of each Party. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, CMO may propose any revisions to this Agreement necessary to comply 
with amendments to the Regulation or other notices, interpretations, rulings, directives or other 
communications issued pursuant to the Regulation (collectively, “Communications”), and CMO will 
provide the Contractor with written notice of such proposed revisions as soon as reasonably practicable. 
Such revision shall automatically have effect from the date of the Change Order, if any, related to such 
Communications. CMO shall make commercially reasonable efforts to consider and respond to reasonable 
written feedback related to such revisions received from the Contractor within thirty (30) calendar days 
of receiving such feedback. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

34  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

8.16 Counterparts 

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and which, 
taken together, shall constitute one and the same instrument.  Each counterpart of this Agreement may 
be executed by electronic signature.  CMO and the Contractor shall execute and deliver such further and 
other documents and do and perform such further and other acts or things as may be necessary or 
desirable to give full effect to this Agreement. 

8.17 Notice 

Unless expressly stated otherwise, any notice, request, consent, claim, demand, waiver or other 
communication required or permitted to be given in connection with this Agreement must be given in 
writing and will be given by hand or sent by courier or emailed, in each case addressed as follows, and will 
be deemed to have been received on the day of receipt if by hand or courier, or if given by email three (3) 
Business Days after confirmation of email transmission. 

To CMO: 

Circular Materials Ontario 
1 St. Clair Avenue West, Suite 700 
Toronto, ON   M4V 1K6 
Attention: Manager, Procurement & Vendor Management 

Email: procurement@circularmaterials.ca 

 

With a copy to Manager: 

RLG Systems Canada Inc. 
175 Bloor Street East, 9th Floor, South Tower  
Toronto, ON M4W 3R8 
Attention: Catherine McCausland 

Email: Catherine.McCausland@rev-log.com 

 

To Contractor: 

 
The Corporation of the Township of Billings 
15 Old Mill Road P.O. Box 34 Kagawong, ON 
Attention: Veronique Dion, CAO/Clerk 
 
Email: cao@billingstwp.ca   
 
  

mailto:procurment@circularmaterials.ca
mailto:Catherine.McCausland@rev-log.com
mailto:cao@billingstwp.ca


  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

35  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

EXHIBIT 2: STAFFED DEPOTS IN ELIGIBLE COMMUNITIES 

 

Eligible 
Community 

Depot Name 
Street 

Address 
City 

Postal 
Code 

Days of Operation 
per Calendar Month 

Hours of Operation 
per Day 

The Corporation of 
the Township of 
Billings 

The Township of 
Billings Landfill 

9490 
Highway 
540 

Kagawong P0P1J0 Summer APRIL 1 - OCT 
31 
Mon: CLOSED 
Tues: 2PM - 6PM 
Wed: CLOSED 
Thurs: 3PM - 6PM 
Fri: CLOSED 
Sat: 10AM - 4PM 
Sun: 10AM - 4PM 
 
Winter NOV 1 - MARCH 
31 
Mon: CLOSED 
Tues: 2PM - 6PM 
Wed: CLOSED 
Thurs: 2PM - 6PM 
Fri: CLOSED 
Sat: 1PM - 4PM 
Sun: 10AM - 4PM 
 
Holidays: **dependant 
on when the holiday 
falls 

Summer APRIL 1 - 
OCT 31 
Mon: 0 
Tues: 4 
Wed: 0 
Thurs: 4 
Fri: 0 
Sat: 6 
Sun: 6 
 
Winter: NOV 1 - 
MARCH 31 
Mon: 0 
Tues: 4 
Wed: 0 
Thurs: 4 
Fri: 0 
Sat: 3 
Sun: 6 
 
Holidays: 
**dependant on when 
the holiday falls 

 

*NOTE:  CMO holds no responsibility or liability for actual information that is different from the 
information presented in this Exhibit. 

  



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

36  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

EXHIBIT 3: UNSTAFFED DEPOTS IN ELIGIBLE COMMUNITIES 

 

Eligible 
Community 

Depot Name  Street Address City Postal Code 

The Corporation 
of the Township 
of Billings 

None     

 

*NOTE:  CMO holds no responsibility or liability for actual information that is different from the 
information presented in this Exhibit. 

 

 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

37  
CM: 2023.08.18 

 

EXHIBIT 4: BLUE BOX MATERIAL ACCEPTED IN COLLECTION SYSTEM  

       

  Material  
  

Stream 1 
  

Stream 2  

Paper/Fibres  

Newsprint  Yes No 

Magazines and 
Catalogues  Yes No 

Telephone Books  Yes No 

Household Fine Paper  Yes No 

Other Printed Paper  Yes No 

Corrugated Cardboard  Yes No 

Boxboard  Yes No 

Gable Top Cartons  Yes No 

Paper Laminates  Yes No 

Aseptic Containers  Yes No 

Aluminum  

Aluminum food or 
beverage cans   No Yes 

Aluminum Foil & Trays  No Yes 

Other Aluminum 
Packaging & Foil  No Yes 

Plastics  

PET Bottles (#1)  No Yes 

Thermoform PET (#1), 
Clamshells & Other Clear 

Plastic Containers  No Yes 

HDPE Containers (#2)  No Yes 

Tubs & Lids (#2, #4 & #5)  No Yes 

Other Bottles & 
Containers (#3, #5, #7)  No Yes 

 Plastic film (LDPE/HDPE) 
(#2, #4)  No Yes 

Plastic Laminates  No Yes 

Polystyrene Foam (#6)  No Yes 

Polystyrene Crystal (#6)  No Yes 

Steel  

Steel Food and Beverage 
Cans  No No 

Steel Aerosols  No No 

Steel Paint Cans  No No 

Glass  
Flint/Clear Glass  No No 

Coloured Glass  No No 

  
 

*NOTE:  CMO holds no responsibility or liability for information that is different from the information 
presented in this Exhibit. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

38 

 

 

 

CM: 2023.08.18 

EXHIBIT 5: SERVICE COMMENCEMENT DATES 

The table included below lists the Eligible Community Service Commencement Date when services, forming 
the Work described by this Agreement are to commence in each Eligible Community. 

Eligible Community Eligible Community Service Commencement Date 

The Corporation of the Township of Billings 
2025-01-01 
 

   



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

39 

 

 

 

CM: 2023.08.18 

EXHIBIT 6: COMPENSATION 

1.1 All amounts in this Agreement are in Canadian funds.  

1.2 The Contractor shall submit an invoice to CMO within fifteen (15) days of the end of a month in respect 
of the Contract Price for the Work performed during such calendar month.  

1.3 CMO shall pay the Contract Price for the Work performed during a calendar month, in accordance with 
this Agreement, on the 45th calendar day after the end of such calendar month, provided that an 
invoice has been received and if such day is not a Business Day then CMO shall make such payment on 
the next Business Day.   

1.4 The Contractor shall be entitled to interest upon any amounts owing for more than thirty (30) calendar 
days on account of delay in payment by CMO, until payment of the unpaid amount.  The interest shall 
be simple interest payable monthly at a rate of one percent (1%) per annum plus Prime.   

1.5 Where the Contractor disputes the amount of a payment, the Contractor shall issue a written notice 
to CMO describing the reasons for the disputed amount.  

1.6 The Contractor shall inform CMO of any payment errors that result in overpayment by CMO in a timely 
manner by issuing a written notice informing CMO of the credit necessary to correct such error in the 
next payment or, if the overpayment is in respect of the last payment, by issuing a refund to CMO 
within thirty (30) calendar days. 

1.7 Except for the applicable Value Added Taxes payable by CMO, all taxes, including any sales, use, excise 
and similar value added taxes, however denominated or measured, imposed upon the price or 
compensation under this Agreement, or upon the Work provided hereunder or thereunder, or based 
on or measured by gross receipts or net income, or measured by wages, salaries or other remuneration 
of the Contractor’s employees, will be solely the responsibility of the Contractor.  The Contractor will 
deposit, or cause to be deposited, in a timely manner with the appropriate taxing authorities all 
amounts required to be withheld.   

 
1.8 In the event there are any monies payable to CMO by the Contractor under the terms of this 

Agreement, CMO shall invoice the Contractor for such amounts and the Contractor shall pay such 
amounts to CMO in accordance with such invoice. 

 
1.9 For each calendar month during the Agreement Term, the Contract Price for the Work performed in 

accordance with the requirements of this Agreement shall be calculated as follows: 

(a) $1.00 multiplied by 742 (the number Households that received Promotion and Education Services 
for such calendar month) and divided by twelve (12); plus  

(b) Residential Depot Operation Costs; less 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

40 

 

 

 

CM: 2023.08.18 

(c) the Non-Eligible Source Deduction multiplied by the tonnes of Blue Box Material picked up by 
CMO, or a contractor identified by CMO from time to time, from the Depots during the applicable 
calendar month, multiplied by the Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price. 

For the purposes of this Agreement, “Residential Depot Operation Costs” means $4,389, as adjusted 
in accordance with this Agreement, and “Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price” means 
$200 per tonne, as adjusted in accordance with this Agreement.  The Residential Depot Operation 
Costs include the Contractor’s administration factor as published by the Resource Productivity and 
Recovery Authority. 

The Residential Depot Operation Costs include the Contractor’s administration factor as published by 
the Resource Productivity and Recovery Authority in its 2020 Datacall. Notwithstanding any other 
provision in the Agreement, the Residential Depot Operation Costs shall not be increased, and the 
Contractor shall not receive any additional compensation, if there is an increase in such administration 
factor. 

1.10 Total Residential Depot Operation Costs Adjustment 

(a) The Residential Depot Operation Costs for each calendar month of the Agreement Term shall be 
determined as follows: 

Residential Depot Operation Costs = Base Residential Depot Operation Costs + Non-Fuel Price 
Component Adjustment, where such price adjustments are applicable to the calendar month. 

(b) The “Base Residential Depot Operation Costs” is the Residential Depot Operation Costs at the 
Agreement Eligible Community Service Commencement Date as set out in Section 1.1. 

(c) The “Non-Fuel Price Component” is 100% of the Base Residential Depot Operation Costs. 

(d) For the first calendar month immediately following the first annual anniversary of the Agreement 
Eligible Community Service Commencement Date and for each subsequent annual anniversary, 
the “Non-Fuel Price Component Adjustment” shall be (1) the Non-Fuel Price Component multiplied 
by (2) the percentage change in the CPI Index, as most recently published, since the Agreement 
Eligible Community Service Commencement Date. The Non-Fuel Price Component Adjustment will 
be added to or subtracted, as applicable, from the Base Residential Depot Operation Costs, for 
such calendar month and for each of the subsequent eleven (11) calendar months. 

1.11 Total Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price Adjustment 

(a) The Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price for each calendar month of the Agreement 
Term shall be determined as follows: 

(b) Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price = Base Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit 
Price + CM Fuel Price Component Adjustment + CPI Component Adjustment, where such price 
adjustments are applicable to the calendar month. 



  NUMBER 2024-00-133 
DEPOT OPERATIONS AGREEMENT 

41 

 

 

 

CM: 2023.08.18 

(c) The “Base Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price” is the Non-Eligible Source Blue Box 
Material Unit Price as set out in Section 1.1 of Exhibit 6. 

(d) The “CM Fuel Price Component” is 20% of the Base Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit 
Price. 

(e) The “CPI Component” is 80% of the Base Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price. 

(f) For each calendar month during the Agreement Term, the “CM Fuel Price Component Adjustment” 
shall be (1) the CM Fuel Price Component multiplied by (2) the percent change in the Southern 
Ontario Diesel Price, as most recently published in the table of Fuel Prices located at 
https://data.ontario.ca/dataset/fuels-price-survey-information (“CM Diesel Fuel Index”), 
compared to the Southern Ontario Diesel Price for the first week of July 2023. The CM Fuel Price 
Component Adjustment will be added to or subtracted from, as applicable, the Base Non-Eligible 
Source Blue Box Material Unit Price. 

(g) In the month of April of each calendar year during the Agreement Term, the “CPI Component 
Adjustment” shall be (1) the CPI Component multiplied by (2) the percent change in the CPI Index, 
as published for March of such calendar year, compared to the CPI Index for July 2023. The CPI 
Component Adjustment will be added to or subtracted from, as applicable, the Base Non-Eligible 
Source Blue Box Material Unit Price for April of such calendar year and for each of the subsequent 
eleven (11) calendar months. 

1.12 CPI Index 

For the purposes of this Agreement, “CPI Index” means the Consumer Price Index (All items), monthly, not 
seasonally adjusted – Ontario (Table 18-10-0004-01)(Formerly CANSIM 326-0020) 
(https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1810000401). 

1.13 Changes to Indices 

If the applicable publisher materially changes, discontinues or replaces the CPI Index, the CPI Index shall be 
subject to revisions as agreed by the Parties. 

If the applicable publisher materially changes, discontinues or replaces the CM Diesel Fuel Index, CMO, in its 
discretion, shall choose an index to replace the CM Diesel Fuel Index. 

https://data.ontario.ca/dataset/fuels-price-survey-information
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1810000401


Payment Account Amount Description

AUTO Amex $26.72 Service Fees (Monthly)
EFT Auto Parts North $1,642.84 Supplies (PW)
AUTO BMO $570.83 Cash Management Fee (Monthly)
EFT Brendan Addison Mobile Mechanic $186.17 Equip. Maintenace (PW)
CHQ Bridal Veil Variety $174.07 Supplies / Fuel (FIRE)
CHQ Bridal Veil Variety $536.07 Fuel (FIRE)
AUTO CANLIFE $1,987.12 RRSP (Monthly)
AUTO Corp Creditor Bus/Ent $40.98 Service Fees (Monthly)
AUTO EMPTX $18,750.53 Payroll Taxes (Monthly on the 15th)
CHQ EncompassIT $537.91 Tech Support
EFT EXP $6,936.38 Engineering Services Design Process OMB Replacement April 26th, 2024
CHQ Farquhar Dairies $564.50 Supplies (MARINA)
EFT G. Stephen Watt $1,101.75 Professional Services
AUTO GFL $11,518.66 Landfill Service Contract (Monthly)
AUTO Hydro One $5,154.68 Hydro Services (Monthly)
EFT Identifiable Individual $1,237.50 Professional Services
EFT Identifiable Individual $323.15 Supplies (MUSEUM)
EFT Identifiable Individual $9.04 Supplies (MUSEUM)
EFT Identifiable Individual $148.46 Supplies (MARINA)
CHQ Innov8 Office Solutions $200.15 Monthly Contract
AUTO Interac $6.05 Service Fees (Monthly)
CHQ John Turner $711.00 Supplies / Equipment Maintenance Backhoe (PW)
CHQ John Turner $2,108.81 Supplies / Equipment Maintenance Chains for Docks (MARINA)
EFT J K Automotive $186.45 Storage Fees (Monthly)
EFT Lisa & Darren Hayden $1,827.00 Cleaning Contract
CHQ Make-Way Environmental Technologies $542.06 Service Inspection
CHQ Manitoulin Veterinary Committee $225.03 2024 Veterinary Fees (ANNUAL)
AUTO Manulife $4,524.74 Service Fees (Monthly)
AUTO Master Card $171.70 Service Fees (Monthly)
CHQ Minister of Finance (Policing) $17,342.00 Local Service Realignment (Monthly)
AUTO Moneris $172.66 Service Fees (Monthly)
CC Northern Communications $233.85 E911 Consolidated (Monthly)
AUTO OCWA $10,948.00 Service Contract (Monthly)
AUTO OMERS $1,907.84 Pension Contribution (Monthly)
AUTO Paul's Corner Store / ESSO $1,625.37 Fuel March (PW)
AUTO Paul's Corner Store / ESSO $1,042.71 Fuel April (PW)
AUTO Paul's Corner Store / ESSO $799.64 Fuel May (PW)
CHQ Public Health $2,863.16 Municipal Levy (Monthly)
EFT RealTax Inc. $3,729.00 Professional Services
CHQ Steele's Home Hardware $38.52 Supplies (MARINA)
AUTO Superior Propane $483.12 Bulk Propane 316 Main
AUTO Superior Propane $31.97 Equipment Rental for PC (Monthly)
CHQ The Manitoulin Expositor $593.54 RFQ Security Monitoring Cameras + MM and TiM Advertising
EFT Total Power $1,299.50 Semi-Annual Service
CHQ UCCM $79.55 Supplies (PW)
CHQ Uline $252.07 Divider (MUSEUM)
AUTO Visa $215.28 Service Fees (Monthly)
CHQ Wally's $395.50 Full Load Tipping Fee (MARINA)
AUTO Wells Fargo $108.01 Service Fees (Monthly)
EFT Whitehots Inc. $907.34 Books (Library)

Total $107,018.98

Total Accounts for Payment $107,018.98

Accounts for Payment June 14, 2024



BY-LAW NO 2024-41 

BEING A BY-LAW TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH THE 
INFORMATION SPECIALISTS FOR THE ONTARIO MUNICIPAL 
RECORDS MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (TOMRMS) COMPLIANCE 

SERVICES AGREEMENT 

WHEREAS the Municipal Act S.O. 2001, c 25, Section 5(1), as amended, provides that 
the powers of a municipal corporation are to be exercised by its Council;  

AND WHEREAS the Municipal Act S.O. 2001, c 25, Section 5(3), as amended, 
provides that a municipal power, including a municipality’s capacity rights, powers and 
privileges under Section 9; shall be exercised by By-law; 

AND WHEREAS the Council for the Corporation of the Township of Billings deems it 
expedient to accept a quote for record management system;  

NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Township of Billings Enacts as Follows: 

1.0 

2.0 

3.0 

4.0 

5.0 

That the Corporation of the Township of Billings Council hereby accepts 
the quote of the Information Specialists in the amount of $425 plus HST 
annually for subscription services and a one-time implementation fee of 
$4,000 + HST for agenda management system. 

THAT the Corporation of the Township of Billings hereby ratifies, and 
confirms the proposal with the Information Specialists attached as 
Schedule “A” and forms part of this By-Law 

THAT the CAO/Clerk is hereby authorized to sign the agreement and any 
necessary amendments thereto on behalf of the Township of Billings. 

THIS By-Law shall come into force and effect upon passing. 

THIS By-Law may be cited as “Information Specialists Record 
Management System By-Law” 

READ a FIRST and SECOND TIME this 2nd day of July, 2024  

READ a THIRD TIME and FINALLY PASSED this 2nd day of July, 2024 

Bryan Barker, Mayor     Véronique Dion, CAO/Clerk 



 

  Nina Carter, President | 613.298.6206 | nina@the-infopros.com   

QUOTE  
 
TOMRMS COMPLIANCE SERVICES 
 
Submitted to: 
Véronique Dion, CAO/Clerk 

Township of Billings 

 
Dear Veronique, 

 Thank you for the opportunity to provide this Quotation for the Ontario Municipal Records 
Management System (TOMRMS) Compliance Services. Based on our conversation, it is evident that we 
have a unique opportunity to leverage our TOMRMS Compliance Services to ensure your Municipality 
remains compliant year-over-year.   

As you may already know, the Information Professionals (InfoPros) TOMRMS Compliance Services are 
provided to more than 360 Municipalities throughout Ontario. Our services were created in response to an 
overwhelming need: hundreds of Municipalities that found themselves exposed to potential litigation risks 
brought on by yearly changes to compliance rules, regulations and legislation.  

Through the InfoPros TOMRMS Compliance Services, we help organizations follow legally acceptable 
practices for compliance in response to moving targets that change both annually and on a rolling year-
over-year basis. This means that Municipalities can focus on other priorities, with the peace of mind that 
comes from knowing that the InfoPros are monitoring litigation risks against an ever-moving target. 

Thank you for providing the InfoPros with this opportunity. I look forward to kicking-off our activities with 
ambition! 

Kind Regards,  

 

Nina Carter 
President, the Information Professionals 
613.298.6206  
nina@the-infopros.com. 

mailto:nina@the-infopros.com


  
 
TOMRMS Compliance Services  

 

  Nina Carter, President | 613.298.6206 | nina@the-infopros.com   

About TOMRMS  

The Ontario Municipal Records Management System(TOMRMS) is a methodology for organizing 
the information that exists within a municipality in Ontario. It was co-developed in 1990, by the 
InfoPros in conjunction with the Association of Municipal Managers, Clerks & Treasurers of Ontario 
(AMCTO), to meet the needs that would arise from the introduction of Municipal Freedom of 
Information and Protection of Privacy Act (MFIPPA).  By the end of 1992 more than 150 
municipalities in Ontario were using it. Today, TOMRMS is a complete methodology for organizing 
large or small collections of information regardless of how the information is held.  

The InfoPros TOMRMS Compliance Services 

The InfoPros TOMRMS Compliance Services are comprised of three primary components. The first 
(1st) are the TOMRMS Compliance Manuals (provided electronically) which are comprised of the 
Classification Scheme, and the Retention Schedule. The second (2nd) component is a one-full-day 
Training Sprint, which has been included in the purchase price because it deemed essential for 
gaining wide-spread support and commitment for the TOMRMS implementation, and, more 
importantly, for understanding exactly how TOMRMS works, it’s benefits, uses, and applications.  

The third (3rd) component is the Annual Update Service. The Annual Update Service includes a 
comprehensive review and audit of all applicable legislation, annotations of the changes that were 
made, the provision of a thoroughly updated Retention Schedule, and a detailed explanation of 
the net effect of all legislative changes. Based on the extensive information we provide, 
Municipalities simply need to make the changes required to maintain compliance and reduce 
litigation risk, in a timely manner.  

Scope of Services 

As a TOMRMS Compliance Services subscriber, your Municipality will receive the following in the 
initial purchase: 

► TOMRMS Compliance Manuals (electronic):  
• A fully compliant and continually updated Classification Scheme to reflect new 

records management subject areas. 
• A fully compliant and continually updated Retention Schedule based on current 

Legislation. 
 

► Training: 
• Two virtual or in person training session (travel extra costs).  
• Training agenda: 

▪ Introduction to records management 
▪ Introduction to MFIPPA 
▪ Introduction to TOMRMS 

mailto:nina@the-infopros.com


  
 
TOMRMS Compliance Services  

 

  Nina Carter, President | 613.298.6206 | nina@the-infopros.com   

• TOMRMS Overview 
• Walkthrough of the TOMRMS manual  
• Application of TOMRMS to physical/electronic records 

We recommend that you include as many staff as possible, at all levels. During this 
training, the InfoPros the importance of implementing TOMRMS and maintaining a 
standard methodology for structuring information, regardless of whether that 
information is in on paper or electronic media. We also teach the structure of 
TOMRMS to provide your staff with the awareness they need to understand how 
TOMRMS is structured and the types of issues that were taken into consideration 
when TOMRMS was developed.  

► Annual Update Service: 
• A comprehensive review and audit of all applicable legislation and annotations of 

the changes that were made. 
• A thoroughly updated Retention Schedule provided in electronic format. 
• A detailed explanation of the net effect of all legislative changes, also provided in 

electronic format.  

Based on the extensive information we provide, Municipalities simply need to make the changes 
required to maintain compliance and reduce litigation risk, in a timely manner. 

  

mailto:nina@the-infopros.com


  
 
TOMRMS Compliance Services  

 

  Nina Carter, President | 613.298.6206 | nina@the-infopros.com   

Pricing  

TOMRMS COMPLIANCE SERVICES 

Quotation #0001-Client Level of Effort Value 

TOMRMS Compliance Services n/a $4,000.00 

Training Session Two  Sessions Included 

Total One-Time Cost $4,000.00 

ANNUAL UPDATE SUBSCRIPTION SERVICES 

Quotation #0001-Client Level of Effort Value 

TOMRMS Updated Retention Schedule Annual $425.00 

Total Recurring Subscription Price $425.00 

PRICING NOTES 

► If applicable, travel and accommodations are extra. 
► Training must be scheduled at least three (3) weeks in advance. 
► In the event of Training cancellation, client agrees to provide a minimum of one (1) week 

notice and client is responsible for fees associated with rebooking.  
► Payment terms are net 30 days.  
► HST, where applicable, is extra.   

mailto:nina@the-infopros.com


  
 
TOMRMS Compliance Services  

 

  Nina Carter, President | 613.298.6206 | nina@the-infopros.com   

About the Information Professionals 

The InfoPros was founded in 1988 and is a privately owned and operated Management Consulting 
firm.  Since inception, the InfoPros have provided advisory services pertaining to Information 
Governance and Compliance programs, policies, procedures, and systems.  For more than 30 years 
the InfoPros have concentrated on addressing the content management needs of the Municipal 
Government sector. Today, Municipalities are the only market we service and, as a result, our 
consultants possess expert-level knowledge of trends, legislation, regulations, operations, 
resourcing, and technology related to the effective management of information assets. 

Our Clientele 

Since our inception, the InfoPros has been addressing the Information Governance and 
Compliance needs of the Municipal Government sector. Today, Municipalities are the only market 
we service and this laser-focus provides the InfoPros with unique advantages that generalists in 
the Management Consulting space forfeit. We possess master-level knowledge of Municipal 
document and records management trends, legislation, regulations, operations, resourcing, and 
related technology solutions. Year-over-year, our repeat success with our Municipal customers 
has provided the foundation for InfoPros being recognized throughout North America as industry 
leaders in records management strategy for government.  

The following is a small sample of our client list and highlights Municipalities that are similar to 
yours in terms of size, scope, and complexity.  

mailto:nina@the-infopros.com


Document # B3.ii. (BB-Long-term) 

Single-tier/County/Region’s purposes  

(Capital Work(s) Rate Offer Borrowing By-law – Long-term – w/o FA) 

 

 

 
 
 
OILC IS PROVIDING THIS DOCUMENT AS A GENERAL SERVICE TO 
ONTARIO MUNICIPALITIES FOR INFORMATION PURPOSES ONLY. 
USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OR ANY OTHER OILC DOCUMENT DOES 
NOT IN ANY WAY CREATE OR CONSTITUTE A SOLICITOR-CLIENT 
RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN OILC AND THE USER.  NO 
REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, ARE 
GIVEN REGARDING THE USE OR APPROPRIATENESS OF THIS 
DOCUMENT FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE. OILC ACCEPTS NO 
LIABILITY FOR ANY USE THAT YOU MAY MAKE OF THIS DOCUMENT 
AND STRONGLY SUGGESTS THAT YOU HAVE YOUR OWN LAWYER 
REVIEW YOUR DOCUMENTS TO CONFIRM THAT THEY MEET THE 
NEEDS FOR WHICH THEY WERE PREPARED. 
. 



Document # B3.ii. (BB-Long-term) 

Single-tier/County/Region’s purposes  

(Capital Work(s) Rate Offer Borrowing By-law – Long-term – w/o FA) 

 

 

The Corporation of The Township of Billings 

BY-LAW NUMBER 2024-42 

A BY-LAW TO APPROVE THE SUBMISSION OF AN APPLICATION TO ONTARIO 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND LANDS CORPORATION (“OILC”) FOR THE LONG-TERM FINANCING OF 

CERTAIN CAPITAL WORK(S) OF The Corporation of The Township of Billings 

(THE “MUNICIPALITY”); AND TO AUTHORIZE THE ENTERING 
INTO OF A RATE OFFER LETTER AGREEMENT PURSUANT TO 
WHICH THE MUNICIPALITY WILL ISSUE DEBENTURES TO 
OILC 

WHEREAS the Municipal Act, 2001 (Ontario), as amended, (the “Act”) 
provides that a municipal power shall be exercised by by-law unless the municipality is 
specifically authorized to do otherwise; 

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Municipality has passed the by-law(s) 
enumerated in column (1) of Schedule “A” attached hereto and forming part of this By-
law (“Schedule “A”) authorizing the capital work(s) described in column (2) of Schedule 
“A” (“Capital Work(s)”) in the amount of the respective estimated expenditure set out in 
column (3) of Schedule “A” , subject in each case to approval by OILC of the long-term 
financing for such Capital Work(s) requested by the Municipality in the Application as 
hereinafter defined; 

AND WHEREAS before the Council of the Municipality approved the Capital 
Work(s) in accordance with section 4 of Ontario Regulation 403/02 (the “Regulation”), 
the Council of the Municipality had its Treasurer calculate an updated limit in respect of 
its then most recent annual debt and financial obligation limit received from the Ministry 
of Municipal Affairs and Housing (as so updated, the “Updated Limit”), and, on the basis 
of the authorized estimated expenditure for the Capital Work or each Capital Work, as the 
case may be, as set out in column (3) of Schedule “A” (the “Authorized Expenditure” for 
any such Capital Work), the Treasurer calculated the estimated annual amount payable 
in respect of the Capital Work or each Capital Work, as the case may be, and determined 
that the estimated annual amount payable in respect of the Capital Work or each Capital 
Work, as the case may be, did not cause the Municipality to exceed the Updated Limit, 
and accordingly the approval of the Ontario Land Tribunal pursuant to the Regulation, 
was not required before any such Capital Work was authorized by the Council of the 
Municipality; 

AND WHEREAS subsection 401(1) of the Act provides that a municipality 
may incur a debt for municipal purposes, whether by borrowing money or in any other 



 - 3 -  

 

 

 

way, and may issue debentures and prescribed financial instruments and enter 
prescribed financial agreements for or in relation to the debt; 

AND WHEREAS the Act also provides that a municipality shall authorize 
long-term borrowing by the issue of debentures or through another municipality under 
section 403 or 404 of the Act; 

AND WHEREAS OILC has invited Ontario municipalities desirous of 
obtaining long-term debt financing in order to meet capital expenditures incurred on or 
after the year that is five years prior to the year of an application in connection with eligible 
capital works to make application to OILC for such financing by completing and submitting 
an application in the form provided by OILC; 

AND WHEREAS the Municipality has completed and submitted or is in the 
process of submitting an application to OILC, as the case may be to request financing for 
the Capital Work(s) by way of long-term borrowing through the issue of debentures to 
OILC, substantially in the form of Schedule “B” hereto and forming part of this By-law (the 
“Application”); 

AND WHEREAS OILC has accepted and has approved or will notify the 
Municipality only if it accepts and approves the Application, as the case may be; 

AND WHEREAS at least five (5) business days prior to the passing of the 
debenture by-law in connection with the issue of Debentures as defined below, OILC will 
provide the Municipality with a rate offer letter agreement substantially in the form as 
provided to the Municipality on or prior to the date of this By-law (the “Rate Offer Letter 
Agreement”);  

NOW THEREFORE THE COUNCIL OF The Corporation of The Township of Billings 

ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Council of the Municipality hereby confirms, ratifies and approves the 
execution by the Treasurer of the Application and the submission by such 
authorized official of the Application, duly executed by such authorized official, to 
OILC for the long-term financing of the Capital Work(s) in the maximum principal 
amount of $425,000.00 with such changes thereon as such authorized official may 
hereafter, approve such execution and delivery to be conclusive evidence of such 
approval. 

2. The Mayor and the Treasurer are hereby authorized to execute and deliver for and 
on behalf of the Municipality the Rate Offer Letter Agreement under the authority 
of this By-law in respect of the Capital Work(s) on such terms and conditions as 
such authorized officials may approve, such execution and delivery to be 
conclusive evidence of such approval. 

3. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Rate Offer Letter Agreement, the Mayor 
and the Treasurer are hereby authorized to long-term borrow for the Capital 
Work(s) and to issue debentures to OILC on the terms and conditions provided in 



 - 4 -  

 

 

 

the Rate Offer Letter Agreement (the “Debentures”); provided that the principal 
amount of the Debentures issued in respect of the Capital Work or of each Capital 
Work, as the case may be, does not exceed the Authorized Expenditure for such 
Capital Work and does not exceed the related loan amount set out in column (4) 
of Schedule “A” in respect of such Capital Work. 

4. In accordance with the provisions of section 25 of the Ontario Infrastructure and 
Lands Corporation Act, 2011, as amended from time to time hereafter, the 
Municipality is hereby authorized to agree in writing with OILC that the Minister of 
Finance is entitled, without notice to the Municipality, to deduct from money 
appropriated by the Legislative Assembly of Ontario for payment to the 
Municipality, amounts not exceeding the amounts that the Municipality fails to pay 
to OILC on account of any unpaid indebtedness of the Municipality to OILC under 
the Debentures (the “Obligations”) and to pay such amounts to OILC from the 
Consolidated Revenue Fund. 

5. For the purposes of meeting the Obligations, the Municipality shall provide for 
raising in each year as part of the general levy, the amounts of principal and 
interest payable in each year under the Debentures issued pursuant to the Rate 
Offer Letter Agreement, to the extent that the amounts have not been provided for 
by any other available source including other taxes or fees or charges imposed on 
persons or property by a by-law of any municipality. 

6. (a) The Mayor and the Treasurer are hereby authorized to execute and deliver 
the Rate Offer Letter Agreement, and to issue the Debentures, one or more 
of the Clerk and the Treasurer are hereby authorized to generally do all 
things and to execute all other documents and papers in the name of the 
Municipality in order to perform the terms and conditions that apply to the 
Municipality as set out in the Rate Offer Letter Agreement and to perform 
the Obligations of the Municipality under the Debentures, and the Treasurer 
is authorized to affix the Municipality’s municipal seal to any such 
documents and papers. 

(b) The money realized in respect of the Debentures, including any premium, 
and any earnings derived from the investment of that money, after providing 
for the expenses related to the issue of the Debentures, if any, shall be 
apportioned and applied to the respective Capital Work and to no other 
purpose except as permitted by the Act. 

7. This By-law takes effect on the day of passing. 

 



 - 5 -  

 

 

 

ENACTED AND PASSED this ____________day of _________________, A.D. 
20______. 

________________________________________ ______________________________________ 

Bryan Barker      Veronique Dion 
Mayor       CAO/Clerk



   

 

 

 

Schedule “A” 
to By-Law Number 2024-42 

(Capital Work(s)) 
 

(1) (2) (3) (4) 

By-Law Number 
2024-42 

Description of Capital Work 

Old Mill Road Bridge is 9.75 m 
single span, wood deck on 
steel girder bridge crossing 
the Kagawong 
River adjacent to the local 
marina. It is founded on wood 
crib abutments with stone 
wingwalls. The 
existing bridge is load posted 
and was damaged during 
construction of an unrelated 
project leading to 
closure of the structure. 
Given the condition and age 
of the existing structure, the 
Township has 

decided to replace rather than 
repair the bridge. 

Estimated 
Expenditure 

$1,252,905.66 

Loan Amount 

$425,000.00 

    

 



   

 

 

 

Schedule “B” 
to By-Law Number  

 

Please insert the OILC Application into Schedule “B”. 

 



BY-LAW NO 2024-43 

BEING A BY-LAW TO CONFIRM THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE 

COUNCIL OF THE TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS 

WHEREAS the Municipal Act S.O. 2001, c 25, Section 5(1), as amended, provides that 
the powers of a municipal corporation are to be exercised by its Council;  

AND WHEREAS the Municipal Act S.O. 2001, c 25, Section 5(3), as amended, 
provides that a municipal power, including a municipality’s capacity rights, powers and 
privileges under Section 9; shall be exercised by By-Law;  

AND WHEREAS The Council for The Corporation of the Township of Billings deems it 
expedient that the proceedings of meetings of the Council be confirmed and adopted by 
By-Law;  

NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the Township of Billings enacts 
as follows:  

1. THAT the actions of the Council of The Corporation of The Township of Billings
at its Council Meeting held on July 2, 2024 in respect to each report, motion,
resolution, or other actions recorded and taken by Council at its meetings, except
where the prior approval of the Ontario Lands Tribunal is required is hereby
adopted, ratified, and confirmed as if all such proceedings were expressly
embodied in this By-Law.

2. THAT the Mayor and CAO/Clerk, or such other official as deem appropriate are
hereby authorized and directed to do all things necessary to give effect to the
said action, of Council of the Township of Billings referred to in the proceeding
section.

3. THAT the Mayor and CAO/Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to execute
all documents necessary on behalf of the Council and to affix the corporate seal
of The Corporation of The Township of Billings to all such documents.

4. THIS By-Law shall come into full force and effect upon final passage.

5. THIS By-Law may be cited as the “July 2, 2024 Confirmatory By-Law”

READ a FIRST and SECOND TIME this 2nd day of July, 2024 

READ a THIRD TIME and FINALLY PASSED this 2nd day of July, 2024 

Bryan Barker, Mayor     Veronique Dion, CAO/Clerk 


	07 02 2024 July 2 2024 Regular Council Agenda.pdf
	06 18 24 June 18 2024 Regular Council Minutes
	EM-2024-07-02 EM Quarterly Report 2
	TR-2024-07-12_Q1 Financial Report
	CLK-2024-07-10 BlueBox Program + attach
	CLK-2024-07-10 BlueBox Program.pdf
	Attach Billings The Corporation of the Township of - EC Depot Operations Agreement - revised final (20240610).pdf
	RECITALS
	(i) Exhibit 1 – Scope of Work and Other Provisions;
	(ii) Exhibit 2 – Staffed Depots in Eligible Communities;
	(iii) Exhibit 3 – Unstaffed Depots in Eligible Communities;
	(iv) Exhibit 4 – Blue Box Material Accepted in Collection System;
	(v) Exhibit 5 – Service Commencement Dates; and
	(vi) Exhibit 6 – Compensation.

	EXHIBIT 1: SCOPE OF WORK AND OTHER PROVISIONS
	Article 1  Definitions
	1.1 Definitions
	1.2 Interpretation
	(a) Whenever inconsistent in the context, words used in the present tense include the future tense whenever the sense requires.
	(b) The words authorized, directed, required, requested, approved, ordered, sanctioned, and satisfactory, unless some other meaning is obvious from the context, shall mean respectively authorized, directed, required, approved, or sanctioned by or sati...
	(c) Where the word “including” or “includes” is used, it means “including (or includes) without limitation”.
	(d) The word may in this Agreement denotes permissive.
	(e) The words shall and will in this Agreement denote imperative.
	(f) Any capitalized term used in this Agreement that is not defined in Section 1.1 of Exhibit 1 or elsewhere in this Agreement will, if applicable, have the meaning set out in the Regulation or otherwise will have the generally accepted industry or te...
	(g) Words importing the singular number will include the plural and vice versa, and words importing the use of any gender will include the masculine, feminine and neuter genders.
	(h) The headings in this Agreement are solely for convenience of reference and will not be used for purposes of interpreting or construing the provisions hereof.
	(i) Unless otherwise provided for herein, all monetary amounts referred to herein will refer to the lawful money of Canada.
	(j) When calculating the period of time within which or following which any act is to be done or step taken pursuant to this Agreement, the date which is the reference date in calculating such period will be excluded. If the last day of such period is...
	(k) Any references in this Agreement to any law, by-law, rule, regulation, order or act of any government, governmental body or other regulatory body, including any Applicable Law, will be construed as a reference thereto as amended or re-enacted from...
	(l) This Agreement shall constitute the entire agreement between the Parties and shall supersede all prior agreements, understandings, negotiations, and discussions, oral or written, between the Parties.

	1.3 Managed Contract
	(a) The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement may be managed for CMO by a Manager. As of the Effective Date, CMO identifies RLG Systems Canada Inc. or one or more of its affiliates (“RLG”) as the Manager. Notwithstanding any other provisio...
	(b) The Manager:
	(i) shall receive copies of documents provided to CMO or that may be requested by CMO and may request copies of documents;
	(ii) shall be notified, along with CMO, pursuant to Sections 1.5 and 1.6 of Exhibit 6 and Section 8.9(b) of Exhibit 1; and
	(iii) may provide notice to the Contractor pursuant to Section 7.3(d) of Exhibit 1.



	Article 2  Scope of Collection Services
	2.1 Scope of Collection Services
	(a) The Contractor shall provide Collection Services, including receiving Blue Box Material from Eligible Sources at each Depot and storage of Blue Box Material at each Depot in a manner that meets or exceeds the standards, level, scope and quality of...
	(b) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Collection Services shall meet the applicable requirements of the Regulation, including Sections 24 and 25.
	(c) The Contractor shall retain responsibility for, and control of, Blue Box Material at a Depot from receipt from Eligible Sources through to pick up by CMO or a contractor identified by CMO from time to time.
	(d) Ownership of the Blue Box Material received at a Depot shall not transfer to the Contractor.
	(e) All Applicable Law shall be complied with by the Contractor in the performance of all portions of the Work.  The Contractor is familiar with all Applicable Law.
	(f) If, during the Agreement Term, there is a change in Applicable Law which is in effect as of the Effective Date that results in a material impact on the performance of any act required by this Agreement, the Parties shall renegotiate the provisions...


	Article 3  Collection Service Provision
	3.1 Addition or Removal of Depots
	CMO and the Contractor may add New Depots or remove existing Depots, and make related revisions to the relevant exhibits, by Change Order.

	3.2 Blue Box Material to be Collected
	(a) The Contractor will receive Blue Box Material, listed in Exhibit 4, delivered by Eligible Sources to a Depot.
	(b) The Contractor will use best efforts to reduce the quantity of Non-Blue Box Material in collected Blue Box Material to no more than four percent (4%) by weight.
	(c) If the average amount of Non-Blue Box Material in collected Blue Box Material picked up by CMO, or a contractor identified by CMO from time to time, from the Depots in any rolling six (6) month period exceeds four percent (4%), the Contractor will...
	(d) The Contractor will use best efforts to not collect Blue Box Material containing Hazardous Waste.
	(e) If Blue Box Material is to be collected from Eligible Sources in the Eligible Communities listed in Exhibit 5 in a minimum of two streams as set out in Exhibit 4, the separation of the two streams is as follows:
	(i) Stream 1 – Paper Products and the following types of Paper Packaging:
	(ii) Stream 2 – Plastic Packaging, Metal Packaging, Glass Packaging


	3.3 Non-Eligible Source Deduction
	(a) Subject to Section 3.3(b) of Exhibit 1, the non-eligible source deduction for each calendar month ("Non-Eligible Source Deduction") shall be five point one-seven (5.17%) and such amount shall be used in the calculation of the Contract Price, pursu...
	(b) If:
	(i) the Contractor has submitted information and documents substantiating, to CMO's reasonable satisfaction, that the proportion of Blue Box Material from Non-Eligible Sources is less than five point one-seven (5.17%), then, at CMO's discretion, CMO m...
	(ii) the amount of Blue Box Material collected differs from the amount expected by CMO, based on the typical capture rates of Blue Box Material and the estimated Blue Box Material available for collection, then, at CMO's discretion, CMO may increase t...
	and, in either case, such adjusted amount shall be used in the calculation of the Contract Price for subsequent calendar months, pursuant to Exhibit 6.


	3.4 Labour Disruption
	(a) If there is a lawful or legal strike, lockout, or work slowdown or other lawful or legal labour disruption or job action during the term of this Agreement (the "Lawful LD Period"), the Contractor shall, during the Lawful LD Period, conditional on ...
	(b) If the Contractor’s employees engage in an unlawful or illegal strike, lockout, or work slowdown or other unlawful or illegal labour disruption or job action during the term of this Agreement (the "Unlawful LD Period") that remains unresolved for ...
	(c) Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the contrary, during the LD Period, the Contractor will not invoice CMO for the cost of collecting the Blue Box Material from Eligible Sources that do not receive collection services pursuant to t...

	3.5 Access to the Work
	(a) Without limiting the generality of any other provision in this Agreement, at all times requested by CMO or the Manager during operating hours upon at least 48-hours notice, the Contractor shall, at no expense to CMO or the Manager, provide CMO, th...
	(b) If any Work is found by CMO or the Manager, acting reasonably, not to be in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement, the Contractor shall, at no expense to CMO or the Manager, make good such defective Work.
	(c) CMO, and other parties identified by CMO, shall be entitled to use information obtained pursuant to this Section 3.5 of Exhibit 1 for the administration of this Agreement and any internal purposes.

	3.6 Subcontractors
	(a) The Contractor may, subject to this Section 3.6, subcontract portions of the Work to Subcontractors.  The Contractor shall, and shall cause its Subcontractors to, perform the Work in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.
	(b) The Contractor shall in all cases be fully responsible to CMO for all of its obligations under this Agreement that are subcontracted to a Subcontractor and for all acts and omissions of all Subcontractors even if such Subcontractor was preselected...


	Article 4  Scope of Promotion and Education Service
	4.1 Scope of Promotion and Education Services
	(a) The Contractor will have primary responsibility for providing persons associated with Households information about Collection Services, including:
	(b) The Contractor will utilize the Blue Box Material categories and terminology in Exhibit 4 Blue Box Material Accepted in Collection System in communications with Households.
	(c) The Contractor may:
	(i) incorporate CMO’s Promotion and Education Materials in the Contractor’s Promotion and Education Materials;
	(ii) use messaging and images that are developed by CMO in the Contractor’s Promotion and Education Materials for the purposes of this Agreement and for no other purpose; and
	(iii) distribute CMO’s Promotional and Educational Materials and assist with promotion and education at the direction of CMO, including supporting local events organized by CMO.

	(d) The number of Households receiving Promotion and Education Services shall be recorded in Section 1.9(a) of Exhibit 6 and may be updated to reflect any Change Orders under this Agreement.


	Article 5  Representation and Warranty
	5.1 Representations and Warranties
	(a) it is duly incorporated, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation, and is duly qualified to do business in all jurisdictions in which qualification is necessary in order to transact its business an...
	(b) it has full power, authority, and right to execute and deliver this Agreement, to make the representations, warranties, and covenants set out herein, and to perform its obligations under this Agreement in accordance with its terms. This Agreement ...
	(c) if applicable, it has consulted with any lower tier municipalities in which the Work will be delivered or members of the Contractor, as the case may be, and obtained any necessary authorization from such lower tier municipalities or members of the...
	(d) it has and will, at its own expense, procure all permits, certificates and licenses required by Applicable Law for the performance of the Work;
	(e) in performing its obligations under this Agreement, the Contractor shall exercise the standard of care, skill, judgment and diligence that would normally be provided by an experienced and prudent contractor supplying similar services and work; and
	(f) it is a registrant within the meaning of Part IX of the Excise Tax Act and shall provide CMO with its harmonized sales tax (“HST”) number.


	Article 6  Record Keeping and Reporting Requirements
	6.1 Record Keeping and Reporting Requirements
	(a) The Contractor shall provide an inventory of Equipment for each Depot prior to the Eligible Community Service Commencement Date and shall submit an updated inventory of Equipment for each Depot on an annual basis.
	(b) The Contractor shall retain records for the Blue Box Material that is collected including a record of the number of containers picked up by CMO or a contractor identified by CMO, or the Manager, from time to time and the date on which the containe...


	Article 7  Failure to Perform, Remedies, Termination
	7.1 Responsibility for Damages/Indemnification
	(a) Contractor Indemnity
	(i) The Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless CMO, the Manager and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents and representatives (collectively, the “CMO Indemnitees”) from and against any and all Losses and Claims brought against,...
	(A) bodily injury, sickness, disease or death or to damage to or destruction of tangible property occurring in or on the premises or any part thereof and as a result of activities under this Agreement;
	(B) any negligent acts or omissions by, or willful misconduct of, the Contractor, its officers, agents, servants, employees, licensees or subcontractors, including failing to exercise the standard of care, skill judgment and diligence required pursuan...
	(C) failure to comply with, or breach of, any of the Contractor’s obligations under this Agreement;
	(D) damages caused by the Contractor, its officers, agents, servants, employees, licensees or subcontractors, or arising from the execution of the Work, or by reason of the existence or location or condition of Work or any materials, plan or Equipment...
	(E) any assessment (including compliance orders and administrative penalties) or allegations of non-compliance under the Regulation or the (Ontario) Resource Recovery and Circular Economy Act, 2016 directly attributable, in whole or in part, to the ac...
	(F) any failure or delay by CMO to submit any required report or other information to the registry, as defined in the (Ontario) Resource Recovery and Circular Economy Act, 2016 resulting from the acts or omissions of the Contractor, its officers, agen...
	(G) any failure of the Contractor, its officers, agents, servants, employees, licensees or subcontractors to comply with the (Ontario) Occupational Health and Safety Act (or the regulations thereunder);
	(H) any finding or declaration that a CMO Indemnitee is an “employer” for the purposes of the (Ontario) Occupational Health and Safety Act in connection with a breach of the (Ontario) Occupational Health and Safety Act (or the regulations thereunder) ...
	(I) any fines, penalties or orders of any kind that may be levied or made in connection therewith pursuant to the (Ontario) Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Water Resources Act, the (Ontario) Dangerous Goods Transportation Act or other simila...

	(ii) Without limiting the generality of any other provision in this Agreement, the Contractor shall indemnify and hold the CMO Indemnitees harmless from and against any and all Losses and Claims brought against, suffered, sustained or incurred by the ...
	(iii) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, indemnification by the Contractor pursuant to this Section 7.1(a) of Exhibit 1 shall include claims, demands, actions, suits and other proceeding by Persons against the CMO Indemnitees for ...
	(iv) The Contractor acknowledges that CMO holds the benefit of any provision in this Agreement, including under this Section 7.1(a) of Exhibit 1, that is expressly intended to extend to include the Manager, as a third-party beneficiary, as trustee an...

	(b) CMO Indemnity
	CMO shall indemnify and hold harmless the Contractor, and its respective elected officials, officers, directors, employees, agents and representatives (the "Contractor Indemnitees") from and against any and all Losses or Claims brought against, suffer...

	7.2 Limited Liabilities
	(a) Subject to Section 7.2(b) of Exhibit 1, the total cumulative liability of the Contractor to CMO for all Losses and Claims of any kind with respect to this Agreement, whether based on tort, negligence, contract, warranty, strict liability or other...
	(b) The Contractor Liability Threshold and Section 7.2(a) of Exhibit 1 shall not apply to any Losses and Claims arising out of, or in consequence of, any one or more of the following for which there shall be no limit of liability:
	(i) all costs to complete the Work, in accordance with this Agreement that are in excess of Contract Price; and
	(ii) indemnification by the Contractor as set out in Section 7.1(a) of Exhibit 1.

	(c) Subject to 7.2(d) of Exhibit 1, the total cumulative liability of CMO to the Contractor for all Losses and Claims of any kind with respect to this Agreement, whether based on tort, negligence, contract, warranty, strict liability or otherwise sha...
	(d) The CMO Liability Threshold and Section 7.2(c) of Exhibit 1 shall not apply to any Losses and Claims arising out of, or in consequence of, indemnification by CMO as set out in Section 7.1(b) of Exhibit 1 for which there shall be no limit of liab...

	7.3 Force Majeure
	(a) Subject to Section 7.3(b) of Exhibit 1, “Force Majeure Event” means any event or circumstance beyond the reasonable control of either CMO or the Contractor (other than a lack of funds or other financial reason) including the following:
	(i) Unusually Severe Adverse Weather Conditions; and
	(ii) riots, war, rebellion, sabotage and atomic or nuclear incidents.

	(b) A Force Majeure Event shall not include the following events or circumstances:
	(i) weather conditions that are not Unusually Severe Adverse Weather Conditions;
	(ii) an electricity system outage, unless the electricity system outage affects an entire Eligible Community and persists for at least forty-eight (48) hours and is caused by a Force Majeure Event;
	(iii) unavailability of, or delays in delivery or breakage of, or shortage of, Equipment or materials, unless such unavailability, delays, breakage or shortage are caused by a Force Majeure Event;
	(iv) the quantity of Blue Box Material collected or received differs from the Contractor’s expectations;
	(v) delay or other failure arising out of the nature of the Work to be done, or from any normal difficulties that may be encountered in the performance of the Work, having regard to the nature thereof;
	(vi) if and to the extent the Party seeking to invoke the Force Majeure Event has caused the applicable Force Majeure Event by its (and, in the case of the Contractor, Subcontractor’s) fault or negligence; or
	(vii) if and to the extent the Party seeking to invoke the Force Majeure Event has failed to use reasonable efforts to prevent or remedy the Force Majeure Event, so far as possible and within a reasonable time period.

	(c) A Party that experiences a Force Majeure Event shall use all commercially reasonable efforts to end the Force Majeure Event, ensure the effects of the Force Majeure Event are minimized and resume full performance under this Agreement.
	(d) In the event that either CMO or the Contractor shall be unable to fulfil, or shall be delayed, or shall be prevented from the fulfilment of, its obligation under this Agreement by reason of a Force Majeure Event, then either Party shall forthwith ...
	(i) terminate this Agreement or any affected Statements of Work as soon as reasonably practicable in writing and without any further payments being made; and
	(ii) perform, or engage others to perform, the obligations under this Agreement that are impacted by the Force Majeure Event; or
	(iii) authorize the Contractor to continue the performance of this Agreement in writing with such adjustments and/or amendments as required by the existence of the Force Majeure Event and as agreed upon by both Parties acting reasonably. If the Partie...
	For clarity, the Contractor shall not be entitled to be paid for obligations under this Agreement that it does not perform as a result of a Force Majeure Event.

	(e) For the purposes of clarification and notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, the Contractor shall be solely responsible for maintaining all Work, including collection services, as applicable, in all circumstances that are not Force...

	7.4 Agreement Termination
	(a) Any termination of this Agreement or termination of the Contractor’s right to perform the Work (or any part thereof) by CMO shall be without prejudice to any other rights or remedies CMO may have.
	(b) Without prejudice to any other right or remedy CMO may have under this Agreement, CMO may terminate this Agreement or terminate the Contractor’s right to perform the Work (or any part thereof) as follows:
	(i) notwithstanding any other section of this Agreement, if there is a Legislative Change, immediately, upon written notice being provided to the Contractor;
	(ii) if there is a Contractor Default and the Contractor has failed to cure such Contractor Default within fifteen (15) Business Days after receipt of notice of such Contractor Default, or within such other time as mutually agreed between the Parties,...
	(iii) if the Parties cannot agree upon a Change Order upon thirty (30) days’ written notice being provided to the Contractor.

	(c) If CMO terminates this Agreement as noted above, CMO is entitled to:
	(i) Take possession immediately of all the Blue Box Material;
	(ii) Withhold any further payments to the Contractor until the completion of the Work; and
	(iii) Recover from the Contractor, any loss, damage, and expense incurred by CMO by reason of the Contractor’s default under Sections 7.4(b)(ii) or 7.4(b)(iii) of Exhibit 1, which may be deducted from any monies due, or becoming due, to the Contract...

	(d) For clarity, if CMO terminates this Agreement because of a Legislative Change or pursuant to Section 7.4(b)(iii) of Exhibit 1, then, subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, CMO shall only be required to pay the Contractor for the Work ...

	7.5 Remedies
	(a) The rights and remedies of CMO as set forth in any provision of this Agreement, including Section 7.4 of Exhibit 1, shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights or remedies provided by law or in equity or otherwise.
	(b) The exercise of any remedy provided by this Agreement does not relieve the Contractor from any liability remaining under this Agreement.
	(c) CMO may take such steps as it considers necessary to remedy any breach of contract and any damages or expenditures thereby incurred by CMO plus a reasonable allowance for overhead may be collected by deduction or set-off pursuant to Section 7.4(b)...
	(d) No waiver of any right or obligation of either Party hereto shall be effective unless in writing, specifying such waiver, and executed by the Party against whom such waiver is sought to be enforced.  Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement...

	7.6 Disputes
	(a) If there is a dispute between CMO and the Contractor as to their respective rights and obligations, the Parties shall use the following dispute resolution procedures to resolve such dispute:
	(i) The Parties shall attempt to resolve the dispute through informal discussions with the assistance of the Manager;
	(ii) If, after a period of ten (10) Business Days, either Party believes the dispute will not be resolved through informal discussion, the dispute shall be referred by the Parties to non-binding mediation whereby the fees and expenses of the mediator ...
	(iii) If the Parties are unable to resolve the dispute within a period of thirty (30) calendar days after the first mediation session, the dispute shall be resolved through binding arbitration in accordance with Section 7.7 of Exhibit 1.


	7.7 Arbitration
	(a) As provided for in Section 7.6(a)(iii) of Exhibit 1, disputes shall be resolved through binding arbitration in accordance with the Arbitration Act, 1991, S.O. 1991, c.17 (“Arbitration Act”), as amended from time to time.
	(b) CMO and the Contractor shall agree on an arbitrator within ten (10) Business Days after either Party receives notice from the other Party. If the Parties fail to agree, either Party may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for the appointmen...
	(c) No one shall be named or act as an arbitrator who is interested in any way financially in this Agreement or in the business affairs of either Party or has been directly or indirectly involved to settle the matter.
	(d) The arbitrator is not authorized to make any decision inconsistent with this Agreement, nor shall the arbitrator modify or amend any of this Agreement terms.
	(e) The Parties agree that the award made by the Arbitrator shall be final and binding and shall in all respect be kept and observed.
	(f) The arbitrator, or arbitral tribunal, will apportion the costs of the arbitration to the Parties.
	(g) The Contractor shall be deemed to abandon the matter if no arbitrator has been appointed within six (6) months of CMO’s receipt of the notice specified in Section 7.7(b) of Exhibit 1.
	(h) No matter may be submitted to arbitration except in accordance with the above provisions.

	7.8 Choice of Forum

	Article 8   Standard Conditions
	8.1 Governing Laws
	8.2 Compliance with Laws and Permits
	(a) The Contractor shall comply in all material respects with Applicable Laws and shall perform and complete the Work, and cause the Work to be performed and completed, in accordance with and in compliance with all Applicable Laws, including all Appli...
	(b) The Contractor shall obtain, and shall ensure Subcontractors obtain, all permits, permissions, licences, and approvals required to perform the Work.

	8.3 Assignment
	8.4 Contractor to Make Examinations
	The Contractor has made its own examination, investigation, and research regarding proper methods of providing the Work and all conditions affecting the Work under this Agreement, and the labour, Equipment and materials needed thereon, and the quantit...

	8.5 Access to Records
	(a) The Contractor shall maintain in its designated local office full and complete operations, customer and service accounts, and records, as applicable to the Work, including records related to Collection Services and Promotion and Education Services...
	(b) The Contractor shall make available copies of records for Blue Box Material picked up by CMO under this Agreement on request within two (2) Business Days of the request by CMO or the Manager.
	(c) All records related to this Agreement, including the Records, shall be maintained, and access granted pursuant to this Section 8.5 of Exhibit 1, throughout the term of this Agreement and for at least five (5) years thereafter.

	8.6 Insurance
	(a) The Contractor shall at its own expense obtain and maintain for the term of this Agreement:
	(i) Commercial general liability insurance on an occurrence basis for an amount not less than five million ($5,000,000) dollars per each occurrence, five million ($5,000,000) dollars general aggregate and a two million ($2,000,000) dollars products-co...
	(ii) Automobile liability insurance for an amount not less than five million ($5,000,000) dollars per occurrence on forms meeting statutory requirements covering all owned, non-owned, operated, hired, and leased vehicles used in connection with this A...
	(iii) Environmental impairment liability insurance (on a claims made or occurrence made basis), covering the work and services described in this Agreement including coverage for loss or claims arising from contamination to third party property damage,...
	(iv) “All risks” property insurance in amounts sufficient to fully cover, on a replacement cost basis without deduction for depreciation, any building in which the Work is being performed and the Equipment contained therein and all other property owne...

	(b) The Contractor shall not commence work until documentation evidencing the insurance requirements of the Contractor, have been filed and accepted by CMO. The documentation shall be certificates of insurance if purchased from a third party or eviden...
	(c) The Commercial General Liability policy is to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions:
	(i) The Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be the primary insurance with respect to CMO, the Manager and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents and representatives. Any insurance, self-insurance, or insurance pool coverage maintain...
	(ii) Coverage shall state that the Contractor’s insurance shall apply separately to each insured against whom claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of the insurer’s liability; and
	(iii) Policies for the above must be kept continuous throughout the term of this Agreement.  If any of the above policies are being cancelled, the Contractor shall notify CMO and the Manager in writing at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the e...

	(d) All coverages for Subcontractors shall be subject to the same insurance requirements as stated herein for the Contractor.

	8.7 Changes to Agreement
	(a) Changes to this Agreement may only be made in writing signed by duly authorized representatives of both Parties.
	(b) No Party shall have any obligation with respect to the implementation of a Change Order unless or until the Parties have reached agreement in writing.

	8.8 Change Management
	(a) CMO shall be entitled to propose changes, alterations and/or amendments to the Work including removing all or a portion of the Work under any Statements of Work.  If CMO deems it prudent to require a change in the Work, CMO shall notify the Contra...
	(b) A Change Notice shall describe the change in the Work in sufficient detail to enable the Contractor to calculate and provide a change in cost estimate (the “Cost Estimate”), if any. The Contractor agrees that the Cost Estimate shall be provided in...
	(c) The Cost Estimate shall include but is not limited to the following as it relates to the change in Work:
	(i) A comment on whether relief from compliance with Contractor’s obligations under this Agreement is required;
	(ii) Any impact on Contractor’s ability to meet its obligations and the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement;
	(iii) Any amendment that may be required to be made to the terms and/or conditions of this Agreement; and
	(iv) Any change in the Contractor‘s costs.

	(d) As soon as practicable after CMO receives the Cost Estimate, the Parties shall act in good faith to resolve the issues set out in the Cost Estimate and Change Notice, including providing evidence that the Contractor has used best efforts, such as ...
	(e) If the Contractor does not intend to use its own resources to implement any change in the Work, subject to prior written approval of CMO, the Contractor may subcontract the required resources with the objective of ensuring that it obtains best val...
	(f) If the Parties agree to the Cost Estimate and Change Notice, as may be modified, amended or altered by the Parties, the Parties shall document the applicable changes to this Agreement (“Change Order”) in respect of such modified, amended or altere...
	(g) Any change in the Work that causes, or is expected to cause, the Contractor’s costs or any subcontractor’s costs to decrease shall be treated as a benefit to the Contractor with the expectation and understanding that CMO will also realize a propor...
	(h) Contractor’s Proposed Change in the Work:
	(i) If the Contractor seeks to propose a change in the Work in accordance with an express entitlement in this Agreement, it must notify CMO in writing. The Contractor, in proposing a change in the Work, agrees to provide CMO with the following informa...
	• A description of the proposed change in the Work in sufficient detail, to enable CMO to evaluate it in full;
	• Reasons in support of the Contractor’s proposed change in Work;
	• Set out the details and implications of the change in the Work, including any anticipated change in the costs of providing the Work by the Contractor;
	• Indicate whether a variation to the Contract Price is proposed (and, if so, provide a detailed Cost Estimate of such proposed change); and
	• Identify an appropriate timeframe for the implementation of the change in Work.

	(ii) CMO agrees that it shall, in a timely manner, and in any event no later than fifteen (15) Business Days, evaluate the Contractor’s proposed change in the Work, considering all relevant issues, including whether:
	• A change in the Contract Price will occur;
	• The change affects the quality of the Work or the likelihood of successful delivery of the amended Work;
	• The change will interfere with any relationship of CMO with third parties;
	• The financial strength of the Contractor is sufficient to perform the change; and
	• The change materially affects the risks or costs to which CMO is exposed.

	(iii) If CMO accepts the Contractor’s proposed change in the Work, the change in the Work shall be set out in a Change Order documenting all changes to the scope of Work and/or terms and conditions of this Agreement.  Where CMO accepts the Contractor’...
	(iv) If CMO rejects the Contractor’s change proposal, CMO shall provide written reasons outlining the basis upon which the change in Work is not accepted by CMO.
	(v) Unless CMO specifically agrees to an increase in the Contract Price in writing, there shall be no increase in price because of a change in the Work proposed by the Contractor.
	(vi) Any change in the Work proposed by the Contractor that causes or that is expected to cause the Contractor’s costs or any subcontractor’s costs to decrease shall be treated as a benefit with expectation that CMO will also realize a proportional fi...

	(i) Except as specifically confirmed in writing by the Parties in accordance with this Section 8.8 of Exhibit 1, all Work shall remain unaltered and shall be performed in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

	8.9 Conflicts and Omissions
	(a) Neither Party to this Agreement shall take advantage of any apparent error or omission in this Agreement.  Any Work not herein specified which is necessary for the proper performance and completion of any Work contemplated, which may be implied as...
	(b) If the Contractor discovers any provision in this Agreement which is contrary to, or inconsistent with any Applicable Law, the Contractor shall forthwith report the inconsistency or conflict to CMO in writing and shall not perform the Work impacte...

	8.10 Duty to Notify
	8.11 Confidentiality Covenant
	(a) Confidential Information means information of or relating to a party (the “Disclosing Party”) that is designated as confidential or that reasonably should be understood to be confidential given the nature of the information and the circumstances o...
	(b) The Receiving Party shall:
	(i) take all measures reasonably required to maintain the confidentiality and security of the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party;
	(ii) not use or reproduce Confidential Information for any purpose, other than as reasonably required to exercise or perform its rights or obligations under this Agreement;
	(iii) not disclose any Confidential Information other than to employees, agents or subcontractors of the Receiving Party (“Representatives”) to the extent, and only to the extent, they have a need to know the Confidential Information in order for Rece...
	(iv) be responsible for any breach of this Agreement by any of its Representatives.

	(c) Notwithstanding the above, the Receiving Party may disclose Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party to the extent required by a court of competent jurisdiction or other governmental authority or otherwise as required by Applicable Law, pr...
	(d) Upon expiry or termination of this Agreement, or upon request by the Disclosing Party, the Receiving Party will return to the Disclosing Party, or irrecoverably destroy, any Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party.
	(e) Contractor will not access, collect, use, disclose, dispose of or otherwise handle information of or about individuals that is subject to Applicable Laws relating to privacy (“Privacy Laws”) in the performance of its obligations under this Agreeme...
	(f) Each Party agrees and acknowledges that any violation of this Section 8.11 of Exhibit 1 may cause irreparable injury to the other Party and that, in addition to any other remedies that may be available (in law, in equity or otherwise), the injured...

	8.12 Severability
	(a) If, for any reason, any part, term, or provision of this Agreement is held by a court of the Province of Ontario to be illegal, void or unenforceable, the validity of the remaining provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations o...
	(b) If it should appear that any provision hereof conflicts with any statutory provision of the Province of Ontario or Government of Canada, said provision, which may conflict therewith, shall be deemed inoperative and null and void insofar as it may ...

	8.13 Survival
	All provisions of this Agreement which expressly or by their nature survive the expiry or termination of this Agreement shall survive the expiry or termination of this Agreement, including the following: Section 7.1 (Responsibility for Damages/Indemn...

	8.14 Further Assurances
	8.15 Revisions to this Agreement
	Except as otherwise expressly stated in this Agreement, no amendment, supplement, modification or waiver or termination of this Agreement and, unless otherwise specified, no consent or approval by any Party, is binding unless executed in writing and s...

	8.16 Counterparts
	8.17 Notice

	EXHIBIT 2: STAFFED DEPOTS IN ELIGIBLE COMMUNITIES
	EXHIBIT 3: UNSTAFFED DEPOTS IN ELIGIBLE COMMUNITIES
	EXHIBIT 4: BLUE BOX MATERIAL ACCEPTED IN COLLECTION SYSTEM
	EXHIBIT 5: SERVICE COMMENCEMENT DATES
	EXHIBIT 6: COMPENSATION
	1.5 Where the Contractor disputes the amount of a payment, the Contractor shall issue a written notice to CMO describing the reasons for the disputed amount.
	1.6 The Contractor shall inform CMO of any payment errors that result in overpayment by CMO in a timely manner by issuing a written notice informing CMO of the credit necessary to correct such error in the next payment or, if the overpayment is in res...
	1.7 Except for the applicable Value Added Taxes payable by CMO, all taxes, including any sales, use, excise and similar value added taxes, however denominated or measured, imposed upon the price or compensation under this Agreement, or upon the Work p...
	1.8 In the event there are any monies payable to CMO by the Contractor under the terms of this Agreement, CMO shall invoice the Contractor for such amounts and the Contractor shall pay such amounts to CMO in accordance with such invoice.
	1.9 For each calendar month during the Agreement Term, the Contract Price for the Work performed in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement shall be calculated as follows:
	(a) $1.00 multiplied by 742 (the number Households that received Promotion and Education Services for such calendar month) and divided by twelve (12); plus
	(b) Residential Depot Operation Costs; less
	(c) the Non-Eligible Source Deduction multiplied by the tonnes of Blue Box Material picked up by CMO, or a contractor identified by CMO from time to time, from the Depots during the applicable calendar month, multiplied by the Non-Eligible Source Blue...
	For the purposes of this Agreement, “Residential Depot Operation Costs” means $4,389, as adjusted in accordance with this Agreement, and “Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price” means $200 per tonne, as adjusted in accordance with this Agree...
	The Residential Depot Operation Costs include the Contractor’s administration factor as published by the Resource Productivity and Recovery Authority in its 2020 Datacall. Notwithstanding any other provision in the Agreement, the Residential Depot Ope...

	1.10 Total Residential Depot Operation Costs Adjustment
	(a) The Residential Depot Operation Costs for each calendar month of the Agreement Term shall be determined as follows:
	Residential Depot Operation Costs = Base Residential Depot Operation Costs + Non-Fuel Price Component Adjustment, where such price adjustments are applicable to the calendar month.
	(b) The “Base Residential Depot Operation Costs” is the Residential Depot Operation Costs at the Agreement Eligible Community Service Commencement Date as set out in Section 1.1.
	(c) The “Non-Fuel Price Component” is 100% of the Base Residential Depot Operation Costs.
	(d) For the first calendar month immediately following the first annual anniversary of the Agreement Eligible Community Service Commencement Date and for each subsequent annual anniversary, the “Non-Fuel Price Component Adjustment” shall be (1) the No...

	1.11 Total Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price Adjustment
	(a) The Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price for each calendar month of the Agreement Term shall be determined as follows:
	(b) Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price = Base Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price + CM Fuel Price Component Adjustment + CPI Component Adjustment, where such price adjustments are applicable to the calendar month.
	(c) The “Base Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price” is the Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price as set out in Section 1.1 of Exhibit 6.
	(d) The “CM Fuel Price Component” is 20% of the Base Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price.
	(e) The “CPI Component” is 80% of the Base Non-Eligible Source Blue Box Material Unit Price.
	(f) For each calendar month during the Agreement Term, the “CM Fuel Price Component Adjustment” shall be (1) the CM Fuel Price Component multiplied by (2) the percent change in the Southern Ontario Diesel Price, as most recently published in the table...
	(g) In the month of April of each calendar year during the Agreement Term, the “CPI Component Adjustment” shall be (1) the CPI Component multiplied by (2) the percent change in the CPI Index, as published for March of such calendar year, compared to t...

	1.12 CPI Index
	1.13 Changes to Indices



	Accounts for Payment 14JUN24
	Sheet2

	2023-41 TOMRMS + attach
	2023-41 TOMRMS.pdf
	Sch A TOMRMS Quote - Township of Billings.pdf

	2024-42 Long Term Single Tier - Borrowing By-law
	2024-43 Confirmatory July 2 2024

